
of usage, along with the purchase of annual maintenance at a specified rate. We recognize license fee revenue 

when each of the following has occurred: (1) evidence of an arrangement is in place; (2) we have delivered the 
software; (3) the fee is fixed or determinable; and (4) collection of the fee is probable. Software projects that 

require significant customization are accounted for under the percentage-of-completion method. We measure 

progress to completion using costs incurred compared to estimated total costs or labor costs incurred compared 

to estimated total labor costs for contracts that have a significant component of third-party materials costs. We 

recognize estimated losses under long-term contracts in their entirety upon discovery. If we did not accurately 
estimate total costs to complete a contract or do not manage our contracts within the planned budget, then 

future margins may be negatively affected or losses on existing contracts may need to be recognized. Software 

license fees billed and not recognized as revenue are included in deferred revenue. 

The Company recognizes contract revenue as billable costs are incurred and for fixed-price product delivery 
contracts using the percentage-of-completion method or proportional performance method, measured by either 

total labor costs or total costs incurred compared to total estimated labor costs or total costs to be incurred in 

accordance with Statement of Position 81-1. We recognize estimated losses on contracts in their entirety upon 

discovery. If we did not accurately estimate total labor costs or total costs to complete a contract or do not 

manage our contracts within the planned budget, then our future margins may be negatively affected or losses 

on existing contracts may need to be recognized. 

Acquired Intangible Assets. The acquired intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives of 

between five and nineteen years, based on the greater of the straight-line method or the revenue curve method. 

We evaluate acquired intangible assets when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 

values of such assets might not be recoverable. Our review of factors present and the resulting appropriate 

carrying value of our acquired intangible assets are subject to judgments and estimates by management. Future 

events such as a significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results, 

significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets. and significant negative industry or 

economic trends could cause us to conclude that impairment indicators exist and that our acquired intangible 
assets might be impaired. There have been no changes in the valuation of the Company's acquired intangible 

assets for the current period. The expense recognized in 2008, 2007, and 2006 relates to the intangible assets 

acquired with the 2004 acquisition of assets from Kivera Inc., including customer lists. customer contracts, 

trademarks, and patents. 

Impairment of Goodwill. The Company performs an annual analysis of our goodwill for impairment in 

accordance with SFAS 142, "Goodwill and other Intangible Assets ". The analysis of goodwill includes, among 

other factors. estimating future cash flows to be received from the assets. At December 31, 2008, goodwill was 

$1.8 million and we determined that the fair value of our goodwill exceeded the carrying value. Material 

differences in our assumptions and valuations in the future could result in a future impairment loss. 

Stock Compensation Expense. Effective January 1. 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions 

of SFAS 123(Rl. using the modified prospective transition method. Under the fair value recognition provisions of 

SFAS 123(Rl. we estimate the fair value of our employee stock awards at the date of grant using the Black

Scholes option pricing model. which requires the use of certain subjective assumptions. The most significant of 

these assumptions are our estimates of expected volatility of the market price of our stock and the expected 

term of the stock award. We have determined that historical volatility is the best predictor of expected volatility 
and the expected term of our awards was determined taking into consideration the vesting period of the award, 

the contractual term and our historical experience of employee stock option exercise behavior. We review our 

valuation assumptions at each grant date and. as a result, we could change our assumptions used to value 

employee stock-based awards granted in future periods. In addition, we are required to estimate the expected 

forfeiture rate and only recognize expense for those awards expected to vest. If our actual forfeiture rate were 

materially different from our estimate, the stock-based compensation expense would be different from what we 

have recorded in the current period. SFAS 123{R) requires that employee stock-based compensation costs be 

recognized over the vesting period of the award and we have elected the straight-line method as the basis for 

recording our expense. 

Income Taxes. Income taxes are accounted for under the provisions of SFAS 109, "Accounting for Income 

Taxes". We use the asset and liability method of accounting for deferred income taxes. We assess the'likelihood 
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that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income. Significant management judgment is 

required in determining any valuation allowance recorded against the net deferred tax assets. Our evaluation of 

the realizability of our deferred tax assets is inherently subjective and is based on our analysis and weighting of 

various positive and negative evidence available to us. This evaluation includes estimates and assumptions about 

a number of market, execution and economic variables. It is possible that actual results may differ from 

assumptions and require adjustments to allowances. On January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the FASB 

issued Interpretation No. 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes" (FIN 48) which prescribes a minimum 

recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a 

tax position. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification, interest and penalties, 
accounting interim periods, disclosure and transition. If a tax position does not meet the more-likely-than-not 

initial recognition threshold, no benefit is recorded in the financial statements. 

Overview and Recent Developments 

We operate two business segments: (i) our Commercial Segment. which consists principally of enhanced 

communication services to and from wireless phones, location application software, our E9-1-1 application and 

other hosted services for wireless carriers and Voice Over IP service providers, and (iil our Government 
Segment. which includes the design, development and deployment of information processing and communica

tion systems, mainly satellite-based, and related services to government agencies. 

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations provides 

information that our management believes to be necessary to achieve a clear understanding of our financial 

statements and results of operations. 

Our management monitors and analyzes a number of performance indicators in order to manage our 

business and evaluate our financial and operating performance. Those indicators include: 

• Revenue and gross profit We derive revenue from the sales of systems and services including recurring 

monthly service and subscriber fees, maintenance fees, software licenses and related service fees for the 

design, development, and deployment of software and communication systems, and products and 
services derived from the delivery of information processing and communication systems to governmental 

agencies. 

• Gross profit represents revenue minus direct cost of revenue, including certain non-cash costs. The major 
items comprising our cost of revenue are compensation and benefits, third-party hardware and software, 

amortization of software development costs, non-cash stock-based compensation, and overhead 

expenses. The costs of hardware and third-party software are primarily associated with the delivery of 

systems, and fluctuate from period to period as a result of the relative volume, mix of projects, level of 

service support required and the complexity of customized products and services delivered. Amortization 

of software development costs, including acquired technology. is associated with the recognition of 

systems revenue from our Commercial Segment. 

• Operating expenses. Our operating expenses are primarily compensation and benefits, professional fees, 

facility costs, marketing and sales-related expenses, and travel costs as well as certain non-cash expenses 
such as non-cash stock compensation expense, depreciation and amortization of property and equipment, 

and amortization of acquired intangible assets. 

• Liquidity and cash flows. The primary driver of our cash flows is the results of our operations. Important 
other sources of our liquidity are our leases secured for the purchase of equipment and potential 

borrowings under our credit lines. 

• Balance sheet. We view cash, working capital, and accounts receivable balances and days revenues 

outstanding as important indicators of our financial health. 
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Results of Operations 

Revenue and Cost of Revenue 

The following discussion addresses the revenue and cost of revenue for the two segments of our business. 

For information regarding the results of the Enterprise assets, see Discontinued Operations - Enterprise assets 

below. 

Commercial Segment: 

2008 vs. 2007 vs. 
2007 2006 

($ in millions) 2008 2007 $ % 2006 $ % 

Services revenue. $ 64.4 $58.8 $ 5.6 10% $59.7 $(0.9) (2%) 

Systems revenue. .............. 37.4 16.5 20.9 127% 17.2 (0.7) (4%) 

Total Commercial Segment revenue 101.8 75.3 26.5 35% 77.0 J.1.2) (2%) 

Direct cost of services 32.4 29.4 3.0 10% 31.4 (2.0) (6%) 

Direct cost of systems ........ 8.9 5.0 3.9 78% 5.2 (0.2) (4%) 

Total Commercial Segment cost of revenue . 41.3 34.4 6.9 20% 36.6 (2.2) (6%) 

Services gross profit .. .......... 32.0 29.4 2.6 9% 28.3 1.1 4% 

Systems gross profit. 28.5 11.5 17.0 148% 12.0 (0.5) (4%) 

Total Commercial Segment gross profit (1). $ 60.5 $40.9 $19.6 48% $40.3 $ 0.6 1% 

Segment gross profit as a percent of revenue . 59% 54% 52% 

(1) See discussion of segment reporting in Note 20 to the audited Consolidated Financial Statements presented else
where in this Annual Report on Form 1 G-K. 

Commercial Services Revenue and Cost of Revenue: 

Our hosted offerings in dude our E9-1-1 service for wireless and Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP) E9-1-1 

service providers, hosted Position Determining Entity (PDE) service, and hosted Location Based Service (LBS) 

applications. Revenue from these offerings primarily consists of monthly recurring service fees and is recognized 

in the month earned. E9-1-1, PDE, VolP and hosted LBS service fees are priced based on units served during the 

period, such as the number of customer cell sites served, the number of connections to Public Service 

Answering Points (PSAPsl. or the number of customer subscribers served. Subscriber service revenue is 

generated by dient software applications for wireless subscribers such as Rand McNally® Traffic. Maintenance 

fees on our systems and software licenses are collected in advance and recognized ratably over the maintenance 
period. Unrecognized maintenance fees are induded in deferred revenue. Custom software development, 

implementation and maintenance services may be provided under time and materials or fixed-fee contracts. 

Our commercial services revenue increased $5.6 million or 10% in 2008 from 2007 due to growth in hosted 

service customer volume and new hosted service customers and increased maintenance fees due to higher 

cumulative system license sales. The 2% decrease in 2007 from 2006 was due to decreases in average fees 

received per unit under pricing arrangements with some wireless E9-1-1 customers, and the loss of a mid-tier 

carrier customer in the third quarter of 2006 offset by increased maintenance revenue on our installed software 

base. 

The direct cost of our services revenue consists primarily of compensation and benefits, network access, 

data feed and circuit costs, and equipment and software maintenance. The direct cost of maintenance revenue 
consists primarily of compensation and benefits expense. For the year ended December 31. 2008, the direct 

cost of service revenue increased 10% over the same period in 2007 in direct relation to increase in revenues. 

For the year ended December 31,2007, the direct cost of services revenue decreased 6% compared to 2006. 

During 2007, we incurred less labor and direct costs related to custom development efforts and deployment 
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requirements of VolP E9-1-1 infrastructure than in 2006. While we increased the number of cell sites, subscribers 

and public safety answering points (PSAPs) served, our overall circuit and data access costs were relatively 

consistent year to year. For 2008, the cost of circuit and other data access costs accounted for approximately 

13% of total direct costs of commercial service revenues. The cost of circuit and other data access costs 

accounted for approximately 15% and 11 % of the total direct costs of our commercial service revenues for 2007 

and 2006 respectively. 

Commercial services gross profit for the year ended December 31. 2008 was 9% higher than in 2007 on 

higher revenue with a comparable percentage increase in labor, fringe and contractor costs. Commercial services 

gross profit in 2007 was 4% higher than in 2006 based on improved operating efficiencies. 

Commercial Systems Revenue and Cost of Revenue 

We sell communications systems incorporating our licensed software for enhanced services, including text 

messaging and location-based services to wireless carriers. These systems are designed to incorporate our 

licensed software. We design our software to ensure that it is compliant with all applicable standards. Licensing 
fees for our carrier software are generally a function of its volume of usage in our customers' networks. As a 

carrier's subscriber base or usage increases, the carrier must purchase additional capacity under its license 

agreement and we receive additional revenue. We may also realize license revenue as a result of infringement 

claims that we make in enforcing our patents. In 2006, we reached a settlement on a patent infringement case 

and won a jury award of more than $10 million in another infringement case; no revenue has been recognized on 

the second case pending post trial motions, appeals, and potential settlement. 

Commercial systems revenue in 2008 was 127% higher than in 2007 due to higher sales of licenses for text 

messaging capacity and customer hardware upgrades. Commercial systems revenue in 2007 was 4% lower than 

in 2006 due mainly to lower sales of text messaging licenses. 

The direct cost of commercial systems consists primarily of compensation, benefits, purchased equipment, 
third-party software, travel expenses, and consulting fees as well as ·the amortization of both acquired and 

capitalized software development costs for all reported periods. The direct cost of the license component of 

systems is normally very low, and the gross profit very high since the software development efforts were 

expensed in prior periods. The direct cost of systems includes amortization of software development costs of 

$2.1 million, $1.5 million, and $1.3 million, respectively, in 2008, 2007, and 2006. 

Our commercial systems gross profit was $28.5 million in 2008, a 148% or $17.0 million increase from 

2007. Commercial systems gross profit was $11.5 million in 2007, or a 4% decrease from 2006. Systems gross 
margins are higher in periods when systems revenue includes a higher proportion of software licenses relative to 

third party system components and integration labor, as was the case in 2008 and 2006. 
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Government Segment: 

2008 vs. 2007 2007 vs. 2006 

($ in millions) 2008 2007 $ % 2006 $ % 

Services revenue. .......... $ 36.9 $29.3 $ 7.6 26% $28.6 $ 0.7 2% 

Systems revenue .. 81.4 39.6 41.8 106% 19.3 20.3 105% 

Total Government Segment revenue. 118.3 68.9 49.4 72% 48.0 20.9 44% 

Direct cost of services 29.2 22.8 6.4 28% 21.1 1.7 8% 

Direct cost of systems 68.3 32.9 35.4 108% 12.7 20.2 159% 

Total Government Segment cost of revenue 97.5 55.7 41.8 75% 33.8 21.9 65% 

Services gross profit. 7.7 6.5 1.2 18% 7.5 (1.0) (13%) 

Systems gross profit. ........ 13.1 6.7 6.4 96% 6.7 NM 

Total Government Segment gross profit (1) . $ 20.8 $13.2 $ 7.6 58% $14.2 $(1.0) 7% 

Segment gross profit as a percent of revenue. 18% 19% 30% 

(1) See discussion of segment reporting in Note 20 to the audited Consolidated Financial Statements presented else
where in this Annual Report on Form 1 D-K. (NM = Not meaningful) 

For 2008, Government Segment revenue increased 72% reflecting increases in both services and systems 

revenue. Government Segment revenue in 2007 and 2006 increased 44% and 32%, respectively, reflecting 

increases in both services and systems revenue. During the third quarter of 2006, we were one of six vendors 
selected by the U.S. Army to provide secure satellite services and systems under a five year contract vehicle, 

with a possible maximum value of up to $5 billion for the six vendors. The WVVSS contract vehicle is expected 

to continue to contribute significant government systems sales growth through 2011. The Company's 

Government Segment has been awarded participation as a prime or sub-contractor to provide similar satellite

based technology under several other contract vehicles. For the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company 

was awarded 6 new delivery orders and received incremental funding against two delivery orders initially issued 

in 2008 under the WWSS vehicle with a total contract value of $84.5 million, of which $61.6 million was fulfilled, 
resulting in 2008 revenue. The total potential value of all WVVSS awards received to date is $366.7 million of 

which $124 million has been funded which we currently expect to fulfill OVer the next three years. 

Government Services Revenue and Cost of Revenue: 

Government services revenue increased to $36.9 million in 2008 from $29.3 million in 2007 and $28.6 million 

in 2006. These increases were generated by neW and expanded-scope contracts resulting from increased sales 

emphasis on communications and information technology service work, increased revenue generated from 

satellite airtime services using our teleport facilities, and maintenance and field support associated with our 
systems sales. Continuing growth is expected from higher usage of our teleport -related services and continuing 

incremental additions of technical outsource service personnel. System maintenance fees are collected in 

advance and recognized ratably over the maintenance periods. 

Direct cost of government service revenue consists of compensation, benefits and travel incurred in 

delivering these services, as well as satellite space segment purchased for resale to government customers. 

These costs increased as a result of the increased volume of service in all three years. 

Our gross profit from government services increased to $7.7 million in 2008 from $6.5 million in 2007 and 

$7.5 million in 2006. The growth in 2008 was realized from professional services, teleport usage, and 
maintenance on the installed base of systems. The decline in gross profit in 2007 was due to the lower average 

margins as a result of tighter average pricing in 2007 due to competition for the contracts as they were renewed 

or newly won. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue decreased in all three years as a result of lower average 

pricing on our mix of government customer contracts. 
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Government Systems Revenue and Cost of Revenue: 

We generate government systems revenue from the design. development. assembly and deployment of 

information processing and communication systems. primarily deployable satellite-based communication sys

tems. and integration of those systems into our customer networks. These are largely variations on our 

SwiftLink® product line. which are lightweight. secure. deployable communication systems. sold to units of the 

U.S. Departments of State. Justice and Defense, and other government agencies. Government systems sales 
more than doubled to $81.4 million in 2008 from $39.6 million in 2007, which was more than double the 

$19.3 million in 2006. The increases over the last three years in systems revenues were primarily due to 

increases in sales volume from the fulfillment of task orders under the VVWSS 5-year contract vehicle, for which 

TeS was one of six awardees in September 2006. In July 2008, TeS was named the sole awardee of a delivery 
order contract with a potential value of $246 million over the next several years, under the VVWSS procurement 

vehicle. 

The cost of our government systems revenue consists of purchased system components. compensation, 

benefits. travel. and the costs related to third-party contractors that we engage. These costs have increased over 
the three years presented as a direct result of the increase in volume. These equipment and third-party costs are 

variable for our various types of products. and margins may fluctuate between periods based on pricing and 

product mix. 

Our government systems gross profit in 2008 increased 96% over 2007 primarily due to higher sales 

volume under the VVWSS procurement vehicle. Government systems gross profit was the same at $6.7 million 

in 2007 and 2006. In 2007. the effect of lower margins was offset by an increase over 2006 volume. 

Operating Expenses: 

Research and Development Expense: 

($ in millions) 

Research and development expense 

Percent of revenue 

2008 2007 

$16.2 $13.1 

7% 9% 

2008 vs. 2007 vs. 
2007 2006 

$ % 2006 $ % 

$3.1 24% $12.6 $0.5 4% 

10% 

Our research and development expense consists of compensation, benefits, and a proportionate share of 

facilities and corporate overhead. The costs of developing software products are expensed prior to establishing 

technological feasibility. Technological feasibility is established for our software products when a detailed 
program design is completed. We incur research and development costs to enhance existing packaged software 

products as well as to create new software products including software hosted in our network operations center. 

These costs primarily include compensation and benefits as well as costs associated with using third-party 

laboratory and testing resources. We expense such costs as they are incurred unless technological feasibility has 

been reached and we believe that the capitalized costs will be recoverable. 

The expenses we incur relate to software applications which are being marketed to new and existing 

customers on a global basis. Throughout 2008. 2007. and 2006. research and development was primarily 

focused on cellular and hosted location-based applications, including Voice over IP ES·l-l, enhancements to our 
hosted location-based service platform, and wireless location-based service applications. Management continually 

assesses our spending on research and development to ensure resources are focused on products that are 

expected t{) achieve the highest level of success. In 2008. 2007, and 2006, we capitalized $0.5 million. 

$1.5 million. and $1.8 million, respectively, of software development costs for certain software projects in 

accordance with the above policy. The capitalized costs relate to our wireless location-based software. These 

costs will be amortized on a product-by-product basis using the straight-line method over the products' estimated 

useful life. not longer than three years. Amortization is also computed using the ratio that current revenue for the 
product bears to the total of current and anticipated future revenue for that product (the revenue curve method). 

If this revenue curve method results in amortization greater than the amount computed using the straight-line 

method. amortization is recorded at that greater amount. Amortization of software development costs is 
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recorded as a direct cost of revenue. We believe that these capitalized costs will be recoverable from future 

gross profits generated by these products. 

Research and development expense increased 24 % in 2008 from 2007, primarily since software developers 

spent less time on work that was subject to capitalized expenditure accounting (discussed above), increased 

Company personnel assigned to software development work, and higher variable compensation in 2008. 

Research and development expense increased 4% in 2007 from 2006. This increase is mainly due to more 

Company personnel assigned to software development work during 2007 than in 2006. 

Our research and development expenditures have yielded more than 65 patents. primarily for wireless 

messaging and location technology. and more than 210 pending patent applications. We believe that the 

intellectual property represented by these patents is a valuable asset that will contribute positively to our results 

of operations in 2009 and beyond. 

Sales and Marketing Expense: 

2008 vs. 2007 vs. 
2007 2006 

($ in millions) 2008 2007 $ % 2006 _$- % 

Sales and marketing expense $13.7 $11.9 $1.8 15% $11.7 $0.2 2% 

Percent of revenue 6% 8% 9% 

Our sales and marketing expense includes compensation and benefits, trade show expenses, travel costs, 

advertising and public relations costs as well as a proportionate share of facility-related costs which are expensed 

as incurred. Our marketing efforts also include speaking engagements, and attending and sponsoring industry 

conferences. We sell our software products and services through our direct sales force and through indirect 

channels. We have also historically leveraged our relationships with original equipment manufacturers to market 

our software products to wireless carrier customers. We sell our products and services to agencies and 

departments of the U.S. government primarily through direct sales professionals. Sales and marketing costs 

increased 15% and 2% in 2008 and 2007, respectively, primarily as a result of adding additional Government 

Segment sales personnel. increased public relations fees. and an increase of approximately $0.9 million in 

variable compensation charges. The increase in 2007 was partially offset by reductions in senior sales and 

marketing executive staff costs. 

General and Administrative Expense: 

($ in millions) 

General and administrative expense 

Percent of revenue. 

......... 

2008 2007 

$28.2 $19.3 

13% 13% 

2008 vs. 2007 vs. 
2007 2006 

_$- % 2006 $ % 

$8.9 46% $17.0 $2.3 14% 

14% 

General and administrative expense consists primarily of costs associated with management, finance, 

human resources and internal information systems. These costs include compensation, benefits. professional 

fees. travel, and a proportionate share of rent, utilities and other facilities costs which are expensed as incurred. 

The increase in 2008 included a charge for vacating a leased facility in Tampa, Florida, earlier than its December 

2009 expirati In. and variable compensation of $8 million related to record revenue, operating profit, and net 

income for the year in accordance with formulas established for key employees at the beginning of the year. The 

14% increase in 2007 over 2006 was primarily attributable to higher legal and advisory fees associated with 

intellectual property related activity. 
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Depreciation and Amortization of Propertv and Equipment: 

2008 vs. 2007 vs. 
2007 2006 

($ in millions) 2008 2007 $ % 2006 _$- % 

Depreciation and amortization of property and 
equipment. . ........ $ 5.9 $ 6.2 $(0.3) (5%) $ 8.0 $(1.8) (23%) 

Average gross cost of property and equipment $50.4 $50.3 $ 0.1 NM $52.0 $(17) (3%) 

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment represents the period costs associated with our 

investment in information technology and telecommunications equipment, software, furniture and fixtures. and 

leasehold improvements. We compute depreciation and amortization using the straight-line method over the 

estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset generally ranges from five years for 
furniture. fixtures, and leasehold improvements to three to four years for most other types of assets including 

computers, software. telephone equipment and vehicles. In 2008 and 2007, our depreciable asset base has 

decreased as a result of assets purchased in previous years becoming fully depreciated. 

Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets: 

2008 vs. 2007 vs. 
2007 2006 

($ in millions) 2008 2007 ...!.. % 2006 ...!.. % 

Amortization of acquired intangible assets $0.1 $0.1 $- NM $0.1 $- NM 

The acquired intangible assets associated with the Kivera Acquisition are being amortized over their useful 

lives of between five and nineteen years. The expense recognized in 2008. 2007, and 2006 relates to the 
intangible assets acquired in this acquisition. including customer lists. customer contracts. trademarks, and 

patents. 

Interest Expense: 

2008 vs. 2007 vs. 
2007 2006 

($ in millions) 2008 2007 $ % 2006 _$- % 

Interest expense incurred on notes payable and 
under our bank revolving credit agreement $0.7 $1.6 $(0.9) (56%) $1.5 $ 0.1 7% 

Interest expense incurred on capital lease 
obligations. ........ 0.3 0.2 0.1 50% 0.3 (0.1) (33%) 

Amortization of deferred financing fees 0.2 0.3 (0.1) (33%) 0.4 (0.1) (25%) 

Amortization of debt discount. ....... 0.5 (0.5) (100%) 1.0 (0.5) (50%) 

Write-off of unamortized debt discount and debt 
issuance expenses. 2.4 (2.4) (100%) 2.4 100% 

Less: capitalized interest JQJ) JQ2) NM (0.1) NM 

Total Interest and Financing Expense $ 1.1 $4.9 $(38) (78%) $ 3.1 $1.8 58% 

Interest expense is incurred under notes payable, an equipment loan. a line of credit, and capital lease 

obligations. Interest on notes. is primarily at stated interest rates of between 0.25% above prime rate and 

10.35% and line of credit borrowing is at the bank's prime rate, which was 3.25% as of December 31. 2008. 

On June 25, 2007. we refinanced $10 million secured notes with a new five year term loan payable to our 

principal bank. The borrowing rate under the new term loan is the prime rate plus 0.25% per annum (3.5% at 

December 31. 2008) and the loan is repayable in equal monthly installments of $0.2 million plus interest. The 

funds were used primarily to retire the March 2006 secured notes. This refinancing resulted in the $2.4 million 

write-off of unamortized debt discount and debt issuance expenses in the second quarter of 2007. In March 

2006. we issued $10 million of secured notes, with cash interest at the rate of 14% per annum. along with 
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warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1.75 million shares of our Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of 

$2.40 per share (2006 Warrants). 

In December 2006, we borrowed $5 million from Tatonka Capital under a 3 year note secured by the 

accounts receivable of one customer. Effective March 28, 200S, we paid this debt in full and modified the terms 

of the note to a line of credit. Under the line of credit agreement. the maximum indebtedness of the line is equal 
to the current maximum debt of $3.2 million ($1.7 million at December 31, 200S) less $0.2 million per month for 

the number of full months that have expired since the effective date. The maturity date of the line of credit is 
December 2S, 2009. The borrowing rate is the London InterBank Offered Rate (UBOR) plus 500 basis points. 

The Company has not borrowed against this Tatonka line. 

Our bank line of credit expires in June 2010, and our maximum line of credit is $22 million. Borrowings at 

any time are limited to an amount based principally on accounts receivable levels as defined in the amended line 

of credit agreement. Our potential borrowing under the amended line of credit agreement is also reduced by the 

amount of letters of credit outstanding which totaled about $2.3 million at December 31. 200S. There were no 
borrowings under our bank line of credit during 2008. 

Cash interest expense on notes payable was lower for the year ended December 31, 2008 due to the 

lower-cost refinancing in 2007 of higher priced March 2006 debt. and lower average bank borrowings. Interest 

on capital lease financing was about the same in both periods. Cash interest expense on notes payable was 

slightly higher for the year ended December 31 , 2007 than in 2006 mainly due to the effect of the higher priced 

March 2006 debt while it was outstanding. The interest incurred on the March 2006 notes, partially offset by 

reduced average principal balances on our revolving credit and other notes payable, caused our total interest 
expense to be higher in 2006. 

Deferred financing fees relate to the up-front expenditures at the time of contracting for notes payable and 

our revolving line of credit facility, which are being amortized over the term of the note or the life of the facility. 

The higher 2007 and 2006 amortization reflects fees to borrow the 2006 Notes. 

The amortization of debt discount in 2007 and 2006 relates to the 2006 Warrants as well as adjustment to 

the terms of warrants issued in connection with 2004 financings. The value of the 2006 Warrants was estimated 

to be $2.9 million, determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which was recorded as a debt 

discount and additional paid-in capital in 2004. The value of the adjustments to the 2004 Warrants was estimated 

to be $0.6 million using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. which was recorded as a debt discount and 
additional paid-in capital in the first quarter of 2006. The total debt discount at issuance was being amortized to 

interest expense over the three year life of the 2006 Notes, yielding an effective interest rate of 15.2%. The 

2006 Notes were written off with the 2007 refinancing. 

Our capital lease obligations include interest at various amounts depending on the lease arrangement. Our 

interest under capital leases fluctuates depending on the amount of capital lease obligations in each year, and 

the interest under those leases, has remained relatively constant since 2006. The interest cost of capital lease 
financings was about the same in the years ending December 31,2008,2007, and 2006. 

Our interest and financing expense decreased in 2008 over 2007 primarily as a result of retiring our March 

2006 and December 2006 borrowings. Interest and financing expense increased in 2007 over 2006 due mainly to 
the write-off of the amortization of debt discount and financing fees associated with the refinancing of our March 

2006 debt. 

Other Income, Net: 

($ in millions) 2008 2007 

Foreign currency translation/ transaction (Ioss)/gaio $0.1 $(01) 

Miscellaneous other (expense)/ income 0.1 0.6 

Total other income, net. $0.2 $ 0.5 --
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2007 

_$- % 

$0.2 200% 

(05) (83%) 

(03) (60%) 

2006 

$(0.1) 

0.1 

$---

2007 vs. 
2006 

--.L % 

$- NM 

0.5 500% 

0.5 100% 
--



For the year ended December 31,2008, Other income, net consisted primarily of $0.7 interest income 

eamed on investment accounts. and $0.1 million net gain on foreign currency translation/transaction, which is 

dependent on fluctuations in currency exchange rates. We record the effects of foreign currency translation on 

our cash, receivables and deferred revenues that are stated in currencies other than our functional currency. The 

Company also recorded a 2008 loss of $O.B million from the decline in the fair market value of certain securities 

considered to be other than temporary. The other components of other income, net. were about the same as in 

periods. 

Income Taxes: 

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS NO.1 09. Accounting for Income Taxes 

("SFAS 1 09"). Under SFAS 109. deferred tax assets and liabilities are computed based on the difference 

between the financial statement and income tax basis of assets and liabilities using the enacted marginal tax 

rate. Upon the adoption of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007, the estimated value of the Company·s uncertain tax 

positions was a liability of $2.7 million resulting from unrecognized net tax benefits which did not include interest 

and penalties. The Company recorded the estimated value of its uncertain tax position by reducing the value of 

certain tax attributes. The Company would classify any interest and penalties accrued on any unrecognized tax 

benefits as a component of the provision for income taxes. There were no interest or penalties recognized in the 

consolidated statement of income for year ended December 31, 2008 and the consolidated balance sheet at 

December 31, 2008. The Company does not currently anticipate that the total amounts of unrecognized tax 
benefits will significantly increase within the next 12 months. The Company files income tax returns in U.S. and 

state jurisdictions. As of December 31 , 2008, open tax years in the federal and some state jurisdictions date 

back to 1999, due to the taxing authorities' ability to adjust operating loss carry forwards. 

SFAS 109 requires that the net deferred tax asset be reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the 

weight of available evidence. it is more likely than not that some portion of all of the net deferred tax asset will 

not be realized. 

This process requires the Company's management to make assessments regarding the timing and 

probability of the ultimate tax impact. The Company records valuation allowances on deferred tax assets if 

determined it is more likely than not that the asset will not be realized. Additionally, the Company establishes 
reserves for uncertain tax positions based upon our judgment regarding potential future challenges to those 

positions. Actual income taxes could vary from these estimates due to future changes in income tax law, 

significant changes in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates, our inability to generate sufficient future 

taxable income or unpredicted results from the final determination of each year's liability by taxing authorities. 

These changes could have a significant impact on the Company's financial position. 

Deferred tax assets consist primarily of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards as well as deductible 

temporary differences. Prior to 2008, the Company provided a full tax valuation allowance for federal and state 

deferred tax assets based on management's evaluation that the Company's ability to realize such assets did not 
meet the criteria of ·'more likely than not'·. The Company has continuously evaluated additional facts represent

ing positive and negative evidence in the determination of its ability to realize the deferred tax assets. In the year 

ended December 31, 200B. management has determined, as the result of cumulative income and anticipated 

future taxable income, that it is now more likely than not that these deferred tax assets will be realized in the 

future. Accordingly, the Company determined that it is appropriate to reverse the deferred tax asset valuation. 

This has resulted in a benefit to deferred tax expense of $33.3 million for the year 2008. 

Discontinued Operations: 

In 2007, the Company sold its Enterprise division operations, which had previously been included in our 

Commercial Segment. Accordingly, the assets, liabilities, and results of operations for the Enterprise assets have 

been classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements 
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting 

Standards No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (Statement No. 144). 
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Effective January 1. 2007. the Company sold two of its three Enterprise units to strategic buyers for 
common stock in the acquiring publicly traded companies valued at approximately $1 million and earn-out 
arrangements. As at December 31. 2008. we wrote down the investments by $O.S million. The Company does 
not expect to receive material payments from the earn-out arrangement. During May 2007. the last Enterprise 
unit was sold for $4 million in cash of which $0.2 million was in escrow and was released in June 200S, a 
$1 million 1S-month note which was paid in full in November 200S. and $0.2 million in equity interest. 

The following table presents income statement data for the Enterprise division, currently reported as 
discontinued operations. The 2005 results were previously reported as part of the results of our Commercial 
Segment. 

($ in millions) 

Total revenue. 

Total gross profit 

Loss from discontinued operations, including 2006 
impairment charges of $15.5 million 

Net Income/(loss): 

($ in millions) 

Net incomeJ(loss) from continuing operations. 

Loss from discontinued operations. 

Net income/(loss) ... ............. 

2008 vs. 
2007 

2008 2007 _$- % 

$- $ 5.6 $(5.6) 100% 

0.8 $(0.8) 100% 
-

$- $(0.3) $0.3 100% 

2008 vs. 
2007 

2008 2007 _$- % 

$57.6 $(10) $58.6 5,860% 

(0.3) 0.3 100% 

$57.6 $(1.3) $58.9 4,531 % 

Net income/Hoss) changes for each year are as a result of the discussions above. 
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2007 vs. 
2006 

2006 _$- % 

$26.0 $(20,4) (78%) 

4.5 $ (3.7) (82%) 

$(23.7) $ 23.4 99% 

2007 vs. 
2006 

2006 _$- % 

$ 2.0 $ (30) (150%) 

(23.7) 23.4 99% 

$(21.7) $20.4 94% 



liquidity and Capital Resources 

The following table summarizes our comparative statements of cash flow: 

($ in millions) 

Net cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in): 

Net income/(Ioss) ........... . 

Less: loss from discontinued operations 

Income/(loss) from continuing operations. 

Non-cash charges. 

Benefit from income taxes 

Net changes in working capital. 

Operating activities of continuing operations. 

Operating activities of discontinued operations. 

Net operating activities 

Investing activities for continuing operations: 

Purchases of property and equipment ....... . 

Capitalized software development costs. 

Investing activities for continuing operations. 

Investing activities for discontinued operations. 

Net investing activities. 

Financing activities: 

Payments on debt and leases 

Proceeds from/(finance fees related to) issuance of stock and debentures, net 

Proceeds from borrowings. 

Proceeds from exercise of warrants. 

Proceeds from employee option exercises 

Net financing activities from continuing operations 

Effect of exchange rates from discontinued operations 

Change in cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations 

Change in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations .. 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents. 

Days revenue outstanding in accounts receivable including unbiUed receivables 

200B 

$ 57.6 

57.6 

12.8 

(34.0) 

(10.4) 

26.0 

26.0 

(37) 

~ 
(4.2) 

(4.2) 

(7.7) 

2.5 

6.4 

1.2 

23.0 

$ 23.0 

95 

2007 2006 

$ (1.3) $(21.7) 

(0.3) (23.7) 

(La) 2.0 

15.5 13.9 

~ ~ 
9.1 13.0 

(3.6) (8.0) 

5.5 5.0 

(2.6) (2.8) 

~) ~) 

(4.1) (4.6) 

4.0 (1.4) 

(0.1) (6.0) 

(16.0) (13.6) 

(1.5) 

10.0 16.0 

2.2 

4.0 0.7 

0.2 1.6 

0.3 

5.2 10.1 

0.4 ~ 
$ 5.6 $ 1.0 

87 82 

Capital resources: We have funded our operations, acquisitions, and capital expenditures primarily using 

cash generated by our operations, as well as the net proceeds from capital including: 

• June 2007 bank term loan borrowing of $10 million to refinance March 2006 s(~cured notes, at a lower 

coupon rate. 

• March 2006 issuance of secured notes and warrants (described below) which generated net cash 

proceeds of approximately $9.3 million. 

• Capital leases to fund fixed asset purchases. 

Sources and uses of cash: The Company's cash and cash equivalents balance was approximately $39.0 mil

lion at December 31, 2008, a $23.0 million increase from $16.0 million at December 31, 2007. 

Operations: Cash generated by continuing operations increased to $26.0 million in 2008 from $9.1 million in 

2007 due mainly to higher earnings. The cash generated by continuing operations in 2007 decreased $9.1 million 

45 



from $13.0 million in 2006 in due mainly to fluctuations in working capital. Discontinued operations used 

$3.6 million and $8.0 million in 2007 and 2006, respectively. The operations and cash flows of the discontinued 

operations have been eliminated and the Company has had no significant involvement in the operations since 

the disposal transaction. 

Investing activities: Fixed asset additions in 2008, 2007, and 2006 were $3.7, $2.6, and $2.8 million, 

respectively. Investments made in the development of carrier software for resale which had reached the stage 

of development calling for capitalization decreased by approximately $1 million in 2008 to about $0.5 million, as 

more developer labor cost was expensed as research and development. The amounts capitalized in 2007 and 

2006 were approximately $2.0 million each year. Discontinued operations generated $4 million from the sale of 

assets in 2007 and $1 million from collection of a note in 2008. Investments were made during 2006 in 
discontinued operations primarily for enhancements to the core software for resale by the mobile asset 

management unit. 

Financing activities: We have a $22 million revolving credit line with our principal bank through June 2010 

with borrowing was available at the bank's prime rate, which was 3.25% per annum at December 31, 2008. 

Borrowings at any time are limited based mainly on accounts receivable levels as defined in the line of credit 

agreement. Availability under the line of credit available is also reduced by the amount of letters of credit 

outstanding, which was $2.3 million at December 31, 2008. As of December 31, 2008, we had no borrowings 

outstanding under our bank line of credit and had approximately $19.3 million of unused borrowing availability 

under the line. 

On December 28, 2006, we issued a $5 million note for a term of three years, secured by accounts 
receivable of one customer to Tatonka Capital. Effective March 28, 2008, we paid the term loan in full, and 

modified the terms of the note to a line of credit. Under the line of credit agreement. the maximum 
indebtedness of the line is equal to $1.7 million at December 31, 2008 less $0.2 million per month through 

December 28, 2009. The borrowing rate is London InterBank Offered Rate (UBOR) plus 500 basis points. As of 

December 31, 2008, we had no borrowings outstanding and $1.7 million in unused borrowing availability under 

the line. 

In June 2007, we refinanced $10 million of our March 2006 secured notes with a with a five year note 

payable to our principal bank. The borrowing rate under the new note was the bank's prime rate plus 0.25% per 
annum, (3.5% at December 31, 2008) and the note is repayable in equal monthly installments of $0.2 million 

plus interest. 

In March 2006, we issued (i) $10 million of secured notes due March 10,2009, with cash interest at 14% 

per annum, and (ii) warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1.75 million shares of our Class A Common Stock at an 

exercise price of $2.40 per share. Also, some warrants that we had previously issued in 2004 contained 
provisions which required an adjustment in both the warrant price and the number of warrants outstanding as a 

consequence of the issuance of 2006 Warrants. The resulting carrying value of the debt at issuance was 

$6.5 million, net of the original discount of $3.5 million which was amortized to interest expense over its three

year term using the effective interest method, yielding an effective interest rate of 15.2%. The remaining 

unamortized debt discount and deferred debt issuance expenses of $2.4 million were written off in the second 

quarter of 2007 as a result of early retirement of the March 2006 note. In December 2008, the holders of these 
warrants exercised their warrants and 1.1 million shares were issued for proceeds of $2.5 million. The remaining 

0.7 millfon warrants remain outstanding and expire March 2011. 

Our line of credit and term loan agreement contains covenants requiring us to maintain a minimum adjusted 

quick ratio and a minimum liquidity ratio; as well as other restrictive covenants including, among others, 

restrictions on our ability to merge, acquire assets above prescribed thresholds, undertake actions outside the 

ordinary course of our business {including the incurrence of indebtedness}, guarantee debt. distribute dividends, 
and repurchase our stock, and minimum tangible net worth. The bank credit agreement also contains a 

subjective cO'/enant that requires (i) no material adverse change in the business, operations, or financial condition 

of the Company to occur, or (ii) no material impairment of the prospect of repayment of any portion of the 

borrowings under the agreement; or (iii) no material impairment of value or priority of the lenders security 

interests in the collateral of the agreement. If our performance does not result in compliance with any of our 
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restrictive covenants, we would seek to further modify our financing arrangements, but there can be no 

assurance that the bank would not exercise its rights and remedies under its agreement with us, including 

declaring all outstanding debt due and payable, As of December 31, 2008, we were in compliance with the 

covenants related to our line of credit and term loan agreement and we believe that the Company will continue 

to comply with these covenants, 

We believe that we have sufficient capital resources with cash generated from operations as well as cash 

on hand to meet our anticipated cash operating expenses, working capital. and capital expenditure and debt 

service needs for the next twelve months. We have borrowing capacity available to us in the form of capital 

leases as well as a line of credit arrangement with our principal bank which expires in June 2010. We may also 

consider raising capital in the public markets as a means to meet our capital needs and to invest in our business. 

Although we may need to return to the capital markets, establish new credit facilities or raise capital in private 

transactions in order to meet our capital requirements, we can offer no assurances that we will be able to 

access these potential sources of funds on terms acceptable to us or at all. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

We had standby letters of credit totaling approximately $2.3 million at year-end 2008 and $2.9 million at 

year-end 2007 in support of processing credit card payments from our customers, as collateral with a vendor; 

and security for office space. 

Contractual Commitments 

As of December 31, 2008, our most significant commitments (including interest) consisted of long-term 

debt, obligations under capital leases and non-cancelable operating leases. We lease certain furniture and 

computer equipment under capital leases. We lease office space and equipment under non-cancelable operating 

leases. As of December 31, 2008 our commitments consisted of the following: 

($ in millions) 2009 2010-2011 2012-2013 Beyond Total 

Notes payable .. $2.5 $ 4.6 $1.2 $- $ 8.3 

Capital lease obligations. 2.1 2.4 0.6 5.1 

Operating leases, primarily for office space. 3.4 4.3 1.3 0.6 9.6 

Total contractual commitments. $8.0 $11.3 $3.1 $0.6 $23.0 --

Related Party Transactions 

In February 2003, we entered into an agreement with Annapolis Partners LLC to explore the opportunity of 

relocating our Annapolis offices to a planned new real estate development. Our President and Chief Executive 

Officer own a controlling voting and economic interest in Annapolis Partners LLC and he also serves as a 

member. The financial and many other terms of the agreement have not yet been established. The lease is 

subject to several contingencies and rights of termination. For example, the agreement can be terminated at the 
sale discretion of our Board of Directors if the terms and conditions of the development are unacceptable to us, 

including without limitation the circumstances that market conditions make the agreement not favorable to us or 

the overall cost is not in the best interest to us or our shareholders, or any legal or regulatory restrictions apply. 

Our Board of Directors will evaluate this opportunity along with alternatives that are or may become available in 

the relevant time periods and there is no assurance that we will enter into a definitive lease at this new 

development site. 

Item 7 A. Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about Market Risk 

Interest Rate Risk 

We have limited exposure to financial market risks, including changes in interest rates. As discussed above 
under" Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Liquidity and Capital Resources," we have a $22 million line of credit. A hypothetical 100 basis point adverse 
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movement (increase) in the prime rate would have increased our interest expense for the year ended 

December 31, 2008 by approximately $0.1 million, resulting in no significant impact on our consolidated financial 
position, results of operations or cash flows. 

At December 31, 2008, we had cash and cash equivalents of $39.0 million. Cash and cash equivalents 

consisted of demand deposits and money market accounts that are interest rate sensitive. However, these 
investments have short maturities mitigating their sensitivity to interest rates. A hypothetical 100 basis point 

adverse movement (decrease) in interest rates would have increased our net loss for 2008 by approximately 

$0.1 million, resulting in no significant impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash 

flows. Substantially all of the Company's cash equivalents at December 31, 2008 are money market fund 

investments which are backstopped as to principal under a federal guarantee program in effect through April 
2009. 

Foreign Currency Risk 

For the year ended December 31. 2008. we generated $8.6 million of revenue outside the U.S. A majority of 
our transactions generated outside the U.S. are denominated in U.S. dollars and a change in exchange rates 

would not have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements. As of December 31. 2008. we did 

not have any billed or unbilled accounts receivable that would expose us to foreign currency exchange risk. 

During 2008. our average receivables and deferred revenue subject to foreign currency exchange risk were 

$0.1 million and $0.7 million. respectively. We recorded transaction income of approximately $0.1 million on 

foreign currency denominated receivables and deferred revenue for the year ended December 31, 2008. 

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 

The financial statements listed in Item 15 are included in this Annual Report on Form 1 Q-K beginning on 
page F-1. 

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

None. 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 1 Q-K. we carried out an evaluation. 

under the supervision and with the participation of our management. including our Chief Executive Officer and 

Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and 
procedures. There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and 

procedures. including the possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding of the controls and 

procedures. Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and procedures can only provide reasonable 
assurance of achieving their control objectives. 

Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) were 

effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports we file or 

submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods 

specified in the applicable rules and forms, and that it is accumulated and communicated to our management, 

including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely deCisions 

regarding required disclosure. 

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 

reporting. as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13aM 15(f). Management, including our Chief Executive Officer and 

Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
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reporting based on the framework in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that 

our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2008. Management reviewed the 

results of their assessment with our Audit Committee. The effectiveness of our internal control over financial 

reporting as of December 31, 2008 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP' an independent registered public 

accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included in Item 9A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

There were no changes in the Company's internal controls over financial reporting during the quarter ended 

December 31. 2008, that are materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect. the Company's 

internal control over financial reporting. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

We have audited TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of Decem

ber 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee 

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). TeleCommunication Systems, 

Inc.'s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its 

assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying 

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 

the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 

Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 

assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material 

respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the 

risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal 
control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 

circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting 

includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detaiL 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide 

reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements 

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company 
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and 

(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition. use or 

disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 

misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that 

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the 

policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. maintained. in all material respects, effective internal 

control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on the COSO criteria. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. and subsidiaries as of 

December 31. 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity, and 

cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31. 2008 of TeleCommunication Systems, 

Inc. and subsidiaries and our report dated March 2, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

Baltimore, Maryland 
March 2, 2009 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 
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Part III 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance 

The information required by this Item lOis incorporated herein by reference from the information captioned 

"Board of Directors" and "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" to be included in 

the Company's definitive proxy statement to be filed in connection with the 2009 Annual Meeting of 

Stockholders. to be held on June 11, 2009 (the "Proxy Statement")' The Company's Code of Ethics and 

Whistleblower Procedures may be found at http://wwwl.telecomsys.com/investor - info/corp

governance.cfm. 

Item 11. Executive Compensation 

The information required by this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference from the information captioned 

"Board of Directors" and "Executive Compensation" to be included in the Proxy Statement. 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management 

The information required by this Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference from the information captioned 

"Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" to be included in the Proxy Statement. 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence 

The information required by this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference from the information captioned 

"Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" and "General Information Concerning the Board of Directors" 

to be included in the Proxy Statement. 

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 

The information required by this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference from the information captioned 

"Principal Accountant Fees and Services" to be included in the Proxy Statement. 
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Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules 

(a)(1) Financial Statements 

Part IV 

The financial statements listed in Item 15 are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on 

page F-l. 

(aH2) Financial Statement Schedules 

The financial statement schedule required by Item 15 is included in Exhibit 12 to this Annual Report on 

Form 10-K. 

Exhibits 

The exhibits are listed in the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the exhibits. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. and 

subsidiaries as of December 31,2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations, 

stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008. Our 

audit also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15. These financial statements are 

the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 

statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 

Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 

audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as 

well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 

basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 

consolidated financial position of TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2008 and 

2007, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the 

period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our 

opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements 

taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States), TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 

2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 2, 2009 expressed an 

unqualified opinion thereon. 

Baltimore, Maryland 
March 2, 2009 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 
(amounts in thousands, except share data) 

Assets 
Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents. . .............. . 

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $285 in 2008 and $266 in 2007 ... 

Unbilled receivables ........................ . 

Inventory 

Deferred income taxes. 

Other current assets 

Total current assets ..... 

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of 
$41,268 in 2008 and $35,969 in 2007 ...... . 

Software development costs, net of accumulated amortization of $6,873 in 
2008 and $4,783 in 2007 . . . ..... . 

Acquired intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $656 in 2008 
and $509 in 2007. . ........ . 

Goodwill. 

Deferred income taxes 

Other assets .. 

Total assets ..... . 

liabilities and stockholders' equity 

Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses ..... . 

Accrued payroll and related liabilities .... . 

Deferred revenue ... 

Current portion of capital lease obligations and notes payable. 

Total current liabilities 

Capital lease obligations and notes payable, less current portion .. 

Stockholders' equity: 

Class A Common Stock; $0.01 par value: 

Authorized shares - 225,000,000; issued and outstanding shares of 
38,527,234 in 2008 and 34,970,394 in 2007 . . . . . ..... . 

Class B Common Stock; $0,01 par value: 

Authorized shares - 75,000,000; issued and outstanding shares of 
6,876,334 in 2008 and 7,301,334 in 2007 , , .... , 

Additional paid-in capital ..... 

Accumulated other comprehensive income/Hoss). , 

Accumulated deficit ... , 

Total stockholders' equity 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity. , 

December 31. December 31, 
2008 2007 

$ 38,977 $ 15,955 

61.827 20,424 

21,797 15,229 

2,715 5,373 

9,736 

3,869 5.561 

138,921 62.542 

12,391 11,209 

2,773 4,406 

562 709 

1,813 1,813 

24,309 

1,190 1,445 

$ 181,959 $ 82,124 

$ 34,345 $ 12,459 

17,243 4,915 

4.349 4,685 

3,837 5,444 

59,774 27,503 

7,913 10.657 

385 349 

69 74 

240,559 227,987 

12 (125) 

(126,753) (184,321 ) 

114,272 43,964 

$ 181,959 $ 82,124 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, 
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

Consolidated Statements of Operations 

(amounts in thousands, except per share data) 

Year Ended December 31, 
2008 2007 2006 

Revenue 

Services . ... 

Systems . ......... . 

Total revenue . . 

Direct costs of revenue 

Direct cost of services . ... 

Direct cost of systems, including amortization of software development 
costs of $2,090. $1,522 and $1.273. respectively ... ... . 

Total direct cost of revenue . .. 

Services gross profit . .......... . 

Systems gross profit. ..... . 

Total gross profit. ... . 

Operating costs and expenses 

Research and development expense .. 

Sales and marketing expense . .... 

General and administrative expense . ..... . 

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment . ......... . 

Amortization of acquired intangible assets . ....... . 

Total operating costs and expenses . .. 

Gain on sale of patent . ........ . 

Operating income/(loss) ...... . 

Interest expense 

Amortization of debt discount and debt issuance expenses, including write-
off of $2,458 in 2007. . . . . .............. . 

Other income, net ..................... . 

Income/(loss) from continuing operations before income taxes ... 

Benefit from income taxes 

Income/(loss) from continuing operations .. ... . 

Loss from discontinued operations . .... 

Net income/(Ioss) .. 

Income/(loss) per share - basic: 

Income/Uoss) per share from continuing operations . ...... . 

Loss per share from discontinued operations .. 

Net income/Uass) per share - basic. 

Income/{Ioss) per share - diluted: 

Income/(Ioss) per share from continuing operations . . 

Loss per share from discontinued operations 

Net income/(loss) per share-diluted 

Weighted average shares outstanding-basic. 

Weighted average shares outstanding-diluted .. 

$101,359 $ 

118,783 

220,142 

61,594 

77,291 

138,885 

39,765 

41,492 

81,257 

16,161 

13,715 

28,238 

5,865 

147 

64,126 

8,060 

25,191 

(922) 

(180) 

222 

24,311 

33,257 

57,568 

$ 57,568 $ 

$ 1.34 $ 

$ 1.34 $ 

$ 1.23 $ 

$ 1.23 $ 

43,063 

46,644 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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88,062 $ 88,380 

56,106 36,556 

144,168 124,936 

52,161 52,540 

37,906 17,883 

90,067 70,423 

35,901 35,840 

18,200 18,673 

54,101 54,513 

13,072 12,586 

11,917 11,713 

19,334 16,959 

6,200 7,956 

148 147 

50,671 49,360 

3,430 5,153 

(1,776) (1,751) 

(3,176) (1,447) 

508 22 

(1,014) 1,976 

(1,014) 1,976 

(275) (23,671) 

(1,289) $ (21,695) 

(0,02) $ 0.05 

(0.01) (0.601 

(0.03) $ (0.55) 

(0.02) $ 0.05 

(0.011 (0.59) 

(0.03) $ (0.54) 

41,453 39,430 

41,453 40,166 



TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity 

(amounts in thousands, except share data> 

Accumulated 
Class A Class B Additional Other 

Common Common Deferred Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated 
Stock Stock Compensation Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Total 

Balance at January 1, 2006. $314 $80 $12311 $210,275 $ (40) $1161,336) $ 49,062 

Elimination of deferred compensation 
upon adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) 231 12311 

Options exercised for the purchase of 
209,632 shares of Class A Common 
Stock. 2 343 345 

Issuance of 212,194 shares of Class A 
Common Stock under Employee 
Stock Purchase Plan. 2 388 390 

Issuance of warrants to purchase 
1,750,000 shares of Class A 
Common Stock .. 3,455 3,455 

Surrender of 67,827 restricted shares 
of Class A Common Stock as 
payment for payroll tax 
withholdings . (1) (187) (188) 

Conversion of 510,291 shares of 
Class B Common Stock to Class A 
Common Stock .. 5 (5) 

Stock compensation expense for 
issuance of Class A Common Stock 
options for continuing operations 2,872 2,872 

Stock compensation expense for 
issuance of Class A Common Stock 
options for discontinued operations .. 504 504 

Vesting of employee stock options. 244 244 
Valuation adjustment to stock options 

issued to non-employees for 
service. 76 76 

Foreign currency translation 
adjustment. 40 40 

Net loss for 2006 121,695) 121,695) 

Balance at December 31,2006 $322 $76 $ - $217,739 $ - $1183,032) $ 35,105 
Options exercised for the purchase of 

1,347,301 shares of Class A 
Common Stock. 14 3,461 3,475 

Issuance of 173,833 shares of Class A 
Common Stock under Employee 
Stock Purchase Plan. 2 541 543 

Exercise of warrants to purchase 
886,787 shares of Class A Common 
Stock ..... 9 2,208 2,217 

Surrender of 19,358 restricted shares 
of Class A Common Stock as 
payment for payroll tax 
withholdings . (57) (57) 

Conversion of 224,338 shares of 
Class B Common Stock to Class A 
Common Stock .. 2 (2) 

Stock compensation expense for 
issuance of Class A Common Stock 
options for continuing operations 3,963 3,963 

Stock compensation expense for 
issuance of Class A Common Stock 
options for discontinued operations. 132 132 

Unrealized lass on securities and 
other .. (125) (125) 

Net loss for 2007 11,289) 11,289) 

Balance at December 31,2007 $349 $74 $ - $227,987 $(125) $1184,3211 $ 43,964 
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity - (Continued) 

(amounts in thousands, except share datal 

Accumulated 
Class A Class B Additional Other 

Common Common Deferred Paid·ln Comprehensive Accumulated 
Stock Stock Compensation Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Total 

Options exercised for the purchase of 
1,927,284 shares of Class A 
Common Stock . . 19 5,853 5,872 

Issuance of 134,000 shares of Class A 
Common Stock under Employee 
Stock Purchase Plan. 451 452 

Exercise of warrants to purchase 
1,050,000 shares of Class A 
Common Stock . ......... 11 2,510 2,521 

Conversion of 425,000 shares of 
Class B Common Stock to Class A 
Common Stock . .. 5 (51 

Stock compensation expense for 
issuance of Class A Common Stock 
options. 3.758 3.758 

Unrealized loss on securities and 
other . .. 137 137 

Net income for 2008 . 57,568 57,568 
Balance at December 31, 2008 $385 $69 $ - $240,559 $ 12 $(126.7531 $114,272 -- --

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, 
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Operating activities: 

TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
(amounts in thousands) 

Net income/(ioss) . . . . . . .............................. . 
Less: Loss from discontinued operations . .................. . 

Income/(loss) from continuing operations. . . . . . . . . ...... . 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities: 

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment. 
Amortization of acquired intangible assets . .......... . 
Deferred tax benefit. . . . . ........... . 
Non-cash stock compensation expense - employee .. 
Non-cash stock compensation expense - non-employee 
Amortization of software development costs . .. . 
Amortization of debt discount . .................... . 
Amortization of deferred financing fees . ...................... . 
Impairment of marketable securities . ................ . 
Write-off of unamortized debt discount and debt issuance fees . . 
Other non-cash (income)/expenses ...... . 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

Accounts receivable. net . ..................... . 
Unbilled receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ....... . 
Inventory. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .............. . 
Other current assets. . . ................. . 
Other noncurrent assets . ................ . 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses .......... . 
Accrued payroll and related liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ........ . 
Deferred revenue. . . . ................... . 

Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations 
Net used in operating activities of discontinued operations . .. 

Total net cash provided by operating activities . ............... . 

Investing activities: 
Purchases of property and equipment. ...................... . 
Capitalized software development costs . ......... . 

Net cash used in investing activities of continuing operations . .... 
Net cash provided by/(used) in investing activities of discontinued 

operations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ...... . 

Net cash used in investing activities . ................... . 

Financing activities: 
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt . . . . ..... . 
Payments on long-term debt and capital lease obligations 
Proceeds from/(payments on) draws on revolving line of credit, net .... 
Financing fees related to issuance of Class A Common Stock and Convertible 

subordinated debentures ............................. . 
Proceeds from exercise of warrants ... . 
Proceeds from exercise of employee stock options and sale of stock. 

Net cash provided by financing activities of continuing operations . ........ . 
Net cash provided by financing activities of discontinued operations . . . 

Net cash provided by financing activities . .................... . 

Effec~ of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents of discontinued 
operations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ..... . 

Net increase in cash from continuing operations . ............. . 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash from discontinued operations 

Net increase in cash ................... . 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year. 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year. 

Year Ended December 31, 
2008 2007 2006 

$ 57,568 

57,568 

5,865 
147 

(34,045) 
3,758 

2,090 

181 
802 

(40) 

(41,403) 
(6,568) 
2,658 

958 
187 

21,886 
12,328 

(336) 

26,036 

26,036 

(3,703) 
(461) 

(4,164) 

(4,164) 

(7,695) 

2,521 
6,324 

1,150 

1,150 

23,022 

23,022 

15,955 
$ 38,977 

$ (1,289) 
(275) 

(1,014) 

6,200 
148 

3,963 
370 

1,522 
480 
313 

2,458 
19 

1,120 
(7,593) 

(80) 
(1,870) 

541 
2,038 

(748) 
1,200 

9,067 
(3,598) 

5,469 

(2,577) 
(1,525) 

(4,102) 

4,000 
(102) 

10,000 
(15,996) 

2,208 
4,018 

230 

230 

5,195 
402 

5,597 

10,358 

$ 15,955 

$(21,695) 
(23,671 ) 

1,976 

7,956 
147 

3,116 

1,273 
960 
487 

(17) 

(658) 
(1,275) 
(2,094) 

152 
111 
246 

1,302 
(638) 

13,044 
(8,037) 

5,007 

(2,760) 
(1,849) 

(4,609) 

(1,442) 

(6,051) 

16,000 
(5,589) 
(8,004) 

(1,470) 

731 

1,668 
58 

1,726 

357 
10,103 
(9,064) 

1,038 

9,320 

$10,358 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data) 

1. Significant Accounting Policies 

Description of Business 

TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. develops and applies highly reliable wireless data communications 
technology. We manage our business in two segments, Commercial and Government: 

Commercial Segment. Our carrier software system products enable wireless carriers to deliver 

premium services including short text messages, location information, internet content and other 

enhanced communication services to and from wireless phones. We provide enhanced 9-1-1 (E9-1-1l 

services. commercial location-based services, and inter-carrier text message distribution services on a 

hosted, or service bureau basis. As of December 31, 2008, we provide hosted services under contracts 

with more than 40 wireless carrier networks and Voice-over-Internet-Protocol (VoIP) service providers. 
We also earn subscriber revenue through wireless applications including our Rand McNally® Traffic 

application which is available via all major US wireless carriers. We earn carrier software-based systems 

revenue through the sale of licenses, deployment and customization fees and maintenance fees. Pricing 
is generally based on the volume of capacity purchased from us by the carrier. We also provide carrier 

technology on a hosted, i.e., service bureau basis; that is, customers use our software functionality 

through connections to and from our network operations centers, paying us monthly based on the 

number of subscribers, cell sites, or call center circuits, or message volume. 

Government Segment. We provide communication systems integration, information technology ser

vices, and software solutions to the U.S. Department of Defense and other government customers. We 

design, assemble, sell and maintain satellite-based network communication systems, including our 

SwiftLink® deployable communication systems which incorporate high speed, encrypted, Internet 

Protocol technology. We also own and operate secure satellite teleport facilities, and resell access to 
satellite airtime (known as space segment). 

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the U. S. requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 

and related disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Principles of Consolidation. The accompanying financial statements include the accounts of our wholly 

owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid investments with a 

maturity of three months or less when purchased. Cash equivalents are reported at fair value, which 

approximates cost. 

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts Receivable. Substantially all of our accounts receivable are trade 

receivables generated in the ordinary course of our business. We use estimates to determine the amount of the 
allowance for doubtful accounts necessary to reduce accounts receivable to their expected net realizable value. 

We estimate the amount of the required allowance by reviewing the status of significant past-due receivables 

and by establishing proVisions for estimated losses by analyzing current and historical bad debt trends. Changes 

to our allowance for doubtful accounts are recorded as a component of general and administrative expenses in 

our accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. Our credit and collection policies and the financial 

strength of our customers are critical to us in maintaining a relatively small amount of write-ofts of receivables. 

We generally do not require collateral from or enter netting agreements with our customers. Receivables that 
are ultimately deemed uncollectible are charged-off as a reduction of receivables and the allowance for doubtful 

accounts. 
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued) 

(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data) 

Inventory. We maintain inventory of component parts and finished product for our Government deployable 

communications systems. Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is based on the weighted 

average method. The cost basis for finished units includes manufacturing cost. 

Investments in Marketable Securities and Note Receivable. The Company received a $1,000 note and 
some marketable securities as partial consideration from three small divestitures during 2007. The marketable 

securities, now valued at $78, are included in other current assets and are classified as available-far-sale in 

accordance with the proviSion of SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity 

Securities. These securities are carried at fair market value based on quoted market price. For the year ended 
December 31, 2007, the Company reported $152 net unrealized losses in stockholders' equity as a component 

of accumulated other comprehensive income. During 2008, the Company has determined that the losses in fair 

market value of marketable securities held were other-than-temporary and wrote down the value of these 

securities by approximately $802, which the write-down is included in Other income, net, Gains or losses on 

securities sold will be based on the specific identification method, The note receivable was reported in other 

current assets for 2007 and was collected in full in November of 2008, including interest at 8.25%. 

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. 

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of equipment, 

generally five years for furniture and fixtures and three to four years for computer equipment software and 

vehicles. Our depreciable asset base includes equipment in our network operations centers related to our hosted 

service offerings, development costs for computer software for internal use, and company-wide computer 

hardware. Amortization of leasehold improvements is provided using the straight-line method over the lesser of 

the useful life of the asset or the remaining term of the lease. Assets held under capital leases are stated at the 
lesser of the present value of future minimum lease payments or the fair value of the property at the inception 

of the lease. The assets recorded under capital leases are amortized over the lesser of the lease term or the 
estimated useful life of the assets in a manner consistent with our depreciation policy for owned assets. 

Goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of assets of acquired businesses. 
Goodwill acquired in a purchase business combination is not amortized, but instead is evaluated annually for 

impairment using a discounted cash flow model in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other IntangIble Assets. 

Software Development Costs. We capitalize software development costs after we establish technological 

feasibility, and amortize those costs over the estimated useful lives of the software beginning on the date when 

the software is available for general release. Acquired technology, representing the estimated value of the 

proprietary technology acquired, has also been recorded as capitalized software development costs. 

Costs we incurred are capitalized when technological feasibility has been established. For new products, 

technological feasibility is established when an operative version of the computer software product is completed 

in the same software language as the product to be ultimately marketed, performs all the major functions 
planned for the product, and has successfully completed initial customer testing. Technological feasibility for 

enhancements to an existing product is established when a detail program design is completed. Costs that are 

capitalized include direct labor, related overhead and other direct costs. These costs are amortized on a 

product-by-product basis using the straight-line method over the product's estimated useful life, which has not 

been greater than three years. Amortization is also computed using the ratio that current revenue for the product 

bears to the total of current and anticipated future revenue for that product (the revenue curve method). If this 

revenue curve method results in amortization greater than the amount computed using the straight-line method, 

amortization is recorded at that greater amount. Our policies to determine when to capitalize software 
development costs and how much to amortize in a given period require us to make subjective estimates and 

judgments. If our software products do not achieve the level of market acceptance that we expect and our 

future revenue estimates for these products change, the amount of amortization that we record may increase 
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued) 

(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data) 

compared to prior periods. The amortization of capitalized software development costs has been recorded as a 

cost of revenue. 

Acquired technology is amortized over the product's estimated useful life based on the purchase price 

allocation and valuation procedures performed at the time of the acquisition. Amortization is calculated using the 

ratio of the estimated future cash flows generated in each period to the estimated total cash flows to be 
contributed from each product or the straight-line method, whichever is greater. 

For 2008, 2007, and 2006 we capitalized $461, $1,525, and 1,849, respectively, of software development 

costs of continuing operations for certain software projects after the point of technological feasibility had been 

reached but before the products were available for general release. Accordingly, these costs have been 

capitalized and are being amortized over their estimated useful lives beginning when the products are available 

for general release. The capitalized costs relate to our location-based software. 

We believe that these capitalized costs will be recoverable from future gross profits generated by these 

products. 

The Company capitalizes all costs related to software developed or obtained for internal use when 

management commits to funding the project and the project completes the preliminary project stage. Capitaliza

tion of such costs ceases when the project is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. 

Acquired Intangible Assets. Acquired intangible assets have useful lives of 5 to 19 years. We are 
amortizing these assets using the greater of the straight-line method or the revenue curve method. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. Long-lived assets, including intangible assets, are reviewed for impair

ment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or group of 
assets may not be fully recoverable. 

If an impairment indicator is present, we evaluate recoverability by a comparison of the carrying amount of 

the assets to future un discounted net cash flows that we expect to generate from these assets. If the assets 
are impaired, we recognize an impairment charge equal to the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds 

the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying values or fair values, 

less estimated costs of disposal. 

Other Comprehensive Income/Loss. Comprehensive income/loss includes changes in the equity of a 
business during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources. Other 

comprehensive income/loss refers to revenue, expenses, gains and losses that under U.S. generally accepted 

accounting principles are included in comprehensive income, but excluded from net income. For operations 

outside the U.S. that prepare financial statements in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, results of operations 

and cash flows are translated at average exchange rates during the period, and assets and liabilities are 

translated at end-of-period exchange rates. Translation adjustments for our European subsidiary are included as a 
component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders' equity. Also included are any unrealized 

gains or losses on marketable securities that are classified as available-far-sale. Total comprehensive income/ 

(loss) for each of the three years ended December 31,2008,2007, and 2006, was not materially different than 

consolidated net income/(Ioss). 

Revenue Recognition. Revenue is generated from our two segments as described below. 

Services Revenue. Revenue from hosted services consists of monthly recurring service fees and is 

recognized in the month earned. Revenue from subscriber service fees is recognized in the period earned. 

Maintenance fees are collected in advance and recognized ratably over the maintenance period, which is typically 
annual. Any unearned revenue, including unrecognized maintenance fees, is included in deferred revenue. 
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued) 

(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data) 

We also recognize services revenue from the design, development and deployment of information 

processing and communication systems primarily for government enterprises. These services are provided under 

time and materials contracts, cost plus fee contracts, or fixed price contracts. Revenue is recognized under time 

and materials contracts and cost plus fee contracts as billable costs are incurred. Fixed-price service contracts 

are accounted for using the proportional performance method. These contracts generally allow for monthly billing 

or billing upon achieving certain specified milestones. Any estimated losses on contracts are recognized in their 

entirety at the date that they become evident. 

Systems Revenue. We design. develop, and deploy communications systems. These systems may include 

packaged software licenses. Systems typically contain multiple elements, which may include the product license, 

installation, integration, and hardware. The total arrangement fee is allocated among each element based on 
vendor-specific objective evidence of the fair value of each of the elements. Fair value is generally determined 

based on the price charged when the element is sold separately. In the absence of evidence of fair value of a 

delivered element revenue is allocated first to the undelivered elements based on fair value and the residual 
revenue to the delivered elements. The software licenses are generally perpetual licenses for a specified number 

of users that allow for the purchase of annual maintenance at a specified rate. All fees are recognized as revenue 

in accordance with Statement of Position 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition (SOP 97-2) when four criteria are 

met. These four criteria are (i) evidence of an arrangement (ii) delivery has occurred, (iii) the fee is fixed or 

determinable and (iv) the fee is probable of collection. Software license fees billed and not recognized as revenue 
are included in deferred revenue. Systems containing software licenses include a gO-day warranty for defects. 

We have not incurred significant warranty costs on any software product to date, and no costs are currently 

accrued upon recording the related revenue. 

Systems revenue is also derived from fees for the development, implementation and maintenance of 

custom applications. Fees from the development and implementation of custom applications are generally 

performed under time and materials and fixed fee contracts. Revenue is recognized under time and materials 

contracts and cost plus fee contracts as billable costs are incurred. Fixed-price product delivery contracts are 
accounted for using the percentage-of-completion or proportional performance method, measured either by total 

costs incurred as a percentage of total estimated costs at the completion of the contract or direct labor costs 
incurred compared to estimated total direct labor costs for projects for which third-party hardware represents a 

significant portion of the total estimated costs. These contracts generally allow for monthly billing or billing upon 

achieving certain specified milestones. Any estimated losses under long-term contracts are recognized in their 

entirety at the date that they become evident. Revenue from hardware sales to our monthly subscriber 

customers is recognized as systems revenue. 

Under our contracts with the U.S. government for both systems and services, contract costs, including the 

allocated indirect expenses, are subject to audit and adjustment by the Defense Contract Audit Agency. We 

record revenue under these contracts at estimated net realizable amounts. 

Our accounting for revenues from systems and services contracts not accounted for under SOP 97-2 or the 

proportional performance of percentage of completion methods, follows the guidance of Emerging Issues Task 

Force 00-21 "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables" (EITF 00-21) for determining of the number of 

units of accounting and the allocation of the total fair value among the multiple elements. 

Deferral of Costs Incurred. We defer direct costs incurred in certain situations as dictated by authoritative 

accounting literature. In addition, if the revenue for a delivered item is not recognized because it is not separable 

from the arrangement. then we defer incremental costs related to that delivered but unrecognized element. 

Deferred costs are included in other current assets on the balance sheet. 

Advertising Costs. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense totaled $1, $34, and 

$29, for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. 
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued) 

(amounts in thousands, except share and per share datal 

Capitalized Interest. Total interest incurred was $1,120, $5,026. and $3.253 for the years ended Decem

ber 31. 2008. 2007, and 2006, respectively. Approximately $18. $74. and $55 of total interest incurred was 

capitalized as a component of software development costs during the year ended December 31. 2008, 2007. 

and 2006 respectively. 

Stock-Based Compensation. We have two stock-based employee compensation plans. which are 

described more fully in Note 17. 

Beginning January 1, 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement No. 123(R) 

("Statement No. 123(R)") requires us to report all share based payments to employees. including grants of 

employee stock options in the income statement based on their fair value. We adopted Statement No. 123(R) 

effective January 1. 2006 using the modified prospective method. 

Research and Development Expense. We incur research and development costs which are primarily 

comprised of compensation and travel expenses related to our engineers engaged in the development and 
enhancement of new and existing software products. All costs are expensed as incurred prior to reaching 

technological feasibility. 

Income Taxes. Income tax amounts and balances are accounted for using the asset and liability method of 

accounting for income taxes as prescribed by SFAS 109. Under this method. deferred income tax assets and 

liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are 

expected to reverse. 

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes" 

(FIN 48) which prescribes a minimum recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial 
statement recognition and measurement of a tax position. FIN 48 also provides guidance on de recognition. 

measurement. classification, interest and penalties, accounting interim periods, disclosure and transition. If a tax 

position does not meet the more-likely-than-not initial recognition threshold, no benefit is recorded in the financial 

statements. Upon the adoption of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. the estimated value of the Company's uncertain 

tax positions was a liability of $2.7 million resulting from unrecognized net tax benefits which did not include 

interest and penalties. The Company recorded the estimated value of its uncertain tax position by reducing the 

value of certain tax attributes. The Company would classify any interest and penalties accrued on any 

unrecognized tax benefits as a component of the provision for income taxes. There were no interest or penalties 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income for year ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 or the 

consolidated balance sheet at December 31.2008 and 2007. The Company files income tax returns in U.S. and 

state jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2008, open tax years in the federal and some state jurisdictions date 

back to 1999. due to the taxing authorities' ability to adjust operating loss carry forwards. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. The Company's major categories of financial assets and liabilities 
subject to fair value measurements include cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities that are held as 

available for sale. Both categories use observable inputs only and are measured using a market approach based 

on quoted prices, see Note 14. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements. 

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, "Fair Value Measurements," which defines fair value, 

establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. 
SFAS 157 was effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15,2007. In February 2008. the FASB decided 

to issue a firlal Staff Position to allow a one-year deferral of adoption of SFAS 157 for non-financial assets and 

non-financial liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a non-recurring 

basis. The FASB also decided to amend SFAS 157 to exclude FASB Statement No. 13 and its related interpretive 

accounting pronouncements that address leasing transactions. The adoption of SFAS 157 for financial assets and 
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liabilities in the first quarter of 2008 did not have an effect on the Company's results of operations and financial 

position. The Company is evaluating the impact of the non-financial asset and liability provisions of this standard 
and does not expect the adoption of those provisions to have a material impact on its financial statements. In 

October 2008, the FASB issued SFAS 157-3, "Determining The Fair Market Value of a Financial Asset When the 

Market for That Asset is not Active" ("SFAS 157-3), which clarifies the application of SFAS 157 in a market that 

is not active and provides an example to illustrate in determining fair market value in that market. The Company 

is evaluating the impact of SFAS 157-3 provisions of this standard and does not expect the adoption of those 

provisions to have a material impact on its financial statements. 

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 159, "Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Liabilities." 

SFAS 159 allows companies to elect to measure certain assets and liabilities at fair value and is effective for 

fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company did not elect the fair value measurement of 

SFAS 159. 

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 141 (R). "Business Combinations." This standard establishes 

principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the 

identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, any noncontrolling interest in the acquired and the goodwill 

acquired. This statement also establishes disclosure requirements which will enable users to evaluate the nature 

and financial effects of the business combination. SFAS 141 (R) is effective for us for acquisitions made after 

December 31,2008. The Company is evaluating the impact of this standard. The adoption of SFAS 141(R) may 

have a material impact on the Company's financial statements for acquisitions post-adoption. 

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 160, "Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial 

Statements, an amendment of ARB No. 51" (SFAS 160). SFAS 160 amends ARB No. 51 to establish accounting 

and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. 

It also amends certain of ARB No. 51 's consolidation procedures for consistency with the requirements of 

SFAS 141 (R). This statement is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning 

on or after December 15, 2008. The statement shall be applied prospectively as of the beginning of the fiscal 

year in which the statement is initially adopted. The adoption of SFAS 160 will not have a material impact on the 

Company's financial statements. 

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS 161, "Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging 

Activities, an amendment of FASB Statement 133" (SFAS 161). SFAS 161 amends and expands the disclosure 

requirements of SFAS 133 with the intent to provide users of financial statements with an enhanced 

understanding of: (i) How and why an entity uses derivative instruments; (ii) How derivative instruments and 

related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS 133 and its related interpretations and (iii) How derivative 

instruments and related hedged items affect an entity's financial position, financial performance and cash flows. 

This statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after 

November 15. 2008, with early application encouraged. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS 161 

to have a material impact on its financial statements. 

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS 162, "The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles" 

(SFAS 1621. SFAS 162 is intended to improve financial reporting by identifying a consistent framework, or 

hierarchy, for selecting the principles used in the preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental entities 

that are presented in conformity with GAAP. This statement shall be effective 60 days following the Securities 

and Exchange Commission's approval of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Auditing amendments 

to AU Section 411, "The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting 

Principles". The Company is evaluating the impact of this standard and does not expect the adoption of SFAS 162 

to have a material impact on the Company's financial statements. 
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2. Enterprise Assets-Discontinued Operations 

In 2007, the Company sold its Enterprise division operations, which had previously been included in its 
Commercial Segment. The operations and cash flows of the business have been eliminated from those of 

continuing operations and the Company has no significant involvement in the operations since the disposal 

transactions. Accordingly, the assets, liabilities, and results of operations for the Enterprise assets have been 

classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements in 

accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, 144, Accounting for the Impairment or 

Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (Statement No. 144), Impairment charges of $15,500 to adjust the estimated 

carrying value of Enterprise long-lived assets and goodwill were recorded during 2006 based on information 

obtained during the process of offering the operating assets for sale and the declines in the Subscriber 

businesses being sold. 

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company sold two of its three Enterprise units to strategic buyers for 

common stock in the acquiring publicly traded companies valued at approximately $1,000 and earn-out 

arrangements. During the year ended December 31, 2008, we wrote down the public securities to $78. The 

Company does not expect to receive material payments from the earn-out arrangement. During May 2007, the 
last Enterprise unit was sold for $4,000 in cash (of which $200 was released from escrow in June 2008), a 

$1,000 18-month note which was paid in full in November 2008, and $250 in equity interest. 

3. Income/(loss) Per Common Share 

Basic income/{ioss) per common share is based upon the average number of shares of common stock 

outstanding during the period. Stock options to purchase approximately 2.6 million, 2.5 million and 6.5 million 

shares were excluded from the computation of diluted net income per share because their inclusion would have 

been anti-dilutive for the years ended 2008, 2007. and 2006, respectively. Because we incurred a loss from 

continuing operations in 2007 potentially dilutive securities were excluded from the computation because the 
result would be anti-dilutive. These potentially dilutive securities consist of stock options. restricted stock. and 

warrants as discussed in Notes 1 and 17. 
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The following table summarizes the computations of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years 

ended December 31: 

Income/(Ioss) from continuing operations 
Loss from discontinued operations. 

Net loss 

Denominator for basic earnings per share - weighted-average 
common shares outstanding.. . ..... . 

Net effect of dilutive stock options based on treasury stock 
method. . . . . . . . ....... . 

Net effect of dilutive warrants based on treasury stock method. 

Denominator for diluted earnings per share - weighted-average 
common shares outstanding and assumed conversions. 

Income/(loss) per share - basic: 

Income/{Ioss) per share from continuing operations 

Loss per share from discontinued operations .. 

Net income/(ioss) per share - basic .. 

Income/(iossl per share - diluted: 

Income/(iossl per share from continuing operations 

Loss per share from discontinued operations ............. . 

Net income/(iossl per share-diluted. 

4. Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information 

2008 

$57,568 

$57,568 

43,063 

3,195 
386 

46,664 

$ 1.34 

$ 1.34 

$ 1.23 

$ 1.23 

2007 2006 

$11,014) $ 1,976 

~) 123,671) 

$11,289) $121,695) 

41,453 39,430 

632 
104 

41,543 40,166 

$ 10.02) $ 0.05 

~ 10.60) 

$ 10.03) $ 10.55) 

$ 10.02) $ 0.05 
10.01) 10.59) 

$ 10.03) $ 10.54) 

Property and equipment acquired under capital leases totaled $3,343, $1.979, and $1,725 during the years 

ended December 31,2008,2007, and 2006, respectively. 

As partial consideration for our 2007 divestitures, we received publicly trade common stock in two of the 

acquiring companies valued at approximately $1 ,000 at the time of January 2007 closing on the transactions. 

During 2008, the Company returned a portion of the common stock of one of the acquiring companies in 
settlement of a divestiture post dosing adjustment claim. We recorded a $140 expense as part of this 

settlement. 

Interest paid totaled $922, $1,002, and $607 during the years ended December 31.2008,2007, and 2006, 
respectively. 

Alternative minimum income taxes and estimated state income taxes paid totaled $559 during 2008. No 

income taxes were paid for 2007 and 2006. 

5. Unbilled Receivables 

Unbilled receivables consist of the excess of revenue earned in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles over the amounts billable at contract milestones. Substantially all unbilled receivables are 

expected to be billed and collected within twelve months. 
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6. Inventory 

Inventory consisted of the following at December 31: 

Component parts 

Finished goods. 

Total inventory at year end 

7. Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment consisted of the following at December 31: 

Computer equipment . . 

Computer software 

Furniture and fixtures . .. 

Leasehold improvements. 

Land . ......... . 

Vehicles . ......... . 

Total property and equipment at cost at year end. 

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization 

Net property and equipment at year end. 

8. Acquired Intangible Assets and Capitalized Software Development Costs 

2008 

$1,763 
952 

$2,715 

2008 

$ 28,456 
18,408 
2,520 
3,168 
1,000 

107 

53,659 
(41,268) 

$ 12,391 

2007 

$2,670 
2,703 

$5,373 

2007 

$ 24,393 
16,360 
2,558 
2,760 
1,000 

107 

47,178 
(35,969) 

$11,209 

Our acquired intangible assets and capitalized software development costs consisted of the following: 

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount 

Acquired intangible assets: 

Customer Lists . ....... $ 606 
Trademarks & Patents ... 612 

Software development costs. 
including acquired 
technology. 9,646 

Total .. . ........ $10,864 

Estimated future amortization expense: 

Year ending December 31. 2009 

Year ending December 31. 2010 

Year ending December 31. 2011 

December 31, 
2008 

Accumulated 
Amortization Net 

$ 521 $ 85 
135 477 

6,873 2,773 

$7,529 $3,335 

Year ending December 31. 2012 ...................... . 

Year ending December 31. 2013 

Thereafter. 
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Gross 
Carrying 
Amount 

$ 606 
612 

9,189 

$10,407 

December 31. 
2007 

Accumulated 
Amortization 

$ 405 
104 

4,783 

$5,292 

Net 

$ 201 
508 

4,406 

$5,115 

$1,845 
$ 786 
$ 227 
$ 80 
$ 80 
$ 317 

$3,335 
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We routinely update our estimates of the recoverability of the software products that have been capitalized. 

Management uses these estimates as the basis for evaluating the carrying values and remaining useful lives of 

the respective assets. 

9. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 

Our accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of the following at December 31: 

Accounts payable .. 

Accrued expenses ... 

Total accounts payable and accrued expenses at year end. 

2008 

$21,223 
13,122 

$34,345 

2007 

$ 5,848 

~ 
$12,459 

Accrued expenses consist primarily of costs incurred for which we have not yet been invoiced, accrued 

sales taxes, and amounts due to our E9-1-1 customers that we have billed and collected from regulating 

agencies on their behalf under cost recovery arrangements. 

10. Line of Credit 

We have maintained a line of credit arrangement with our principal bank since 2003. In June 2007, we 

amended the agreement to extend our line of credit and decrease the cost of borrowing. Under the amended 
agreement, the availability of the line was extended to June 2010, and the borrowing rate decreased from prime 

plus 1.25% to the bank's prime rate which was 3.25% per annum at December 31, 200S. Our maximum 

borrowing availability remained the same at $22,000. Borrowings at any time are limited to an amount based 

principally on accounts receivable levels and a working capital ratio, each as defined in the amended line of credit 

agreement. The line of credit available is also reduced by the amounts of letters of credit outstanding which 

totaled $2,2S0 at December 31, 200S. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007 we had no borrowings outstanding 

under the line of credit and we had approximately $19,300 and $11,000, respectively, of unused borrowing 
availability under this line. 

Our amended line of credit and term loan agreement contains covenants requiring us to maintain a minimum 

adjusted quick ratio and a minimum liquidity ratio as well as other restrictive covenants including, among others, 

restrictions on our ability to merge, acquire assets above prescribed thresholds, undertake actions outside the 

ordinary course of our business (including the incurrence of indebtedness), guarantee debt, distribute dividends, 

and repurchase our stock, and maintenance of a minimum tangible net worth. The agreement also contains a 
subjective covenant that requires (i) no material adverse change in the business, operations, or financial condition 

of the Company occur, or (ii) no material impairment of the prospect of repayment of any portion of the 

borrowings under the agreement; or (iii) no material impairment of value or priority of the lenders security 

interests in the collateral of the bank credit agreement. As of December 31, 2008, we were in compliance with 

the covenants related to our line of credit and we believe that the Company will can 'inue to comply with its 

restrictive covenants. If our performance does not result in compliance with any of these restrictive covenants, 

we would seek to further modify our financing arrangements, but there can be no assurance that the bank would 

not exerci~e its rights and remedies under its agreement with us, induding declaring all outstanding debt due 

and payable. 

In December 2006, we borrowed $5,000 under 3-year notes secured by accounts receivable of one 

customer. Effective March 28, 2008, we prepaid this debt in full and modified the terms of the note to a line of 

credit. Under the line of credit agreement. the maximum indebtedness of the line is equal to $1,700 at 

December 31, 2008 less $150 per until the maturity date of December 28, 2009. The borrowing rate is the 

London InterBank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 500 basis points. As of December 31, 200S, the Company has not 

borrowed against this line. 
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11. Long-Term Debt 

Long-term debt consisted of the following at December 31: 

Note payable dated June 2007 due July 1, 2012 and bearing interest at prime 
rate plus 0.25% per annum, See further description ............... . 

Note payable dated December 28, 2006, paid in full March 28, 2008 and 
modified to a line of credit (see Note 10 for further description) ... 

Other. paid in full January 2008 . 

Total long term debt 
Less: current portion 

Non current portion of long term debt. 

Aggregate maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 2008 are as follows: 

2009. 
2010 .. 
2011 
2012 . 

Total ... 

2008 2007 

$7,167 $9,167 

3,501 

7,167 12,669 
(2,000) (3,661) 

$5,167 $9,008 

$2,000 
2,000 
2,000 
1,167 

$7,167 

On June 25, 2007, we refinanced $10,000 of March 2006 secured notes with a five year bank term loan. 

The borrowing rate under the new term loan was the prime rate plus 0.25% per annum (3.5% at December 31, 

2008) and payments are due in equal monthly installments of $167 plus interest. In March 2006, we issued 

(i) $10,000 of secured notes due March 10, 2009, with cash interest at 14% per annum, and (ii) warrants to 

purchase an aggregate of 1.75 million shares of our Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $2.40 per 
share. In December 2008. the holders of 1.1 million of the warrants exercised those warrants and 1.1 million 

shares were issued. The remaining 0.7 million warrants remain outstanding and expire March 2011. The resulting 

carrying value of the debt at issuance was $6.500, net of the original discount of $3,500 which was being 

amortized to interest expense over its three-year term using the effective interest method, yielding an effective 

interest rate of 15.2%. The remaining unamortized debt discount and issuance expenses of $2,458 million were 

written off in the second quarter of 2007 as a result of early retirement of the March 2006 note. 

12. Capital Leases 

We lease certain equipment under capital leases. Property and equipment included the following amounts 

for capital leases at December 31: 

Computer equipment. 

Computer software. 
Furniture and fixtures 

Leasehold improvements .. 

Total equipment under capital lease at cost. 

Less: accumulated amortization 

Net property and equipment under capital leases. 

2008 

$ 5,340 
1,654 

18 
25 

7,037 
(2,090) 

$ 4,947 

2007 

$ 5,685 
1,474 

237 
6 

7,402 
(3,824) 

$ 3,578 

Capital leases are collateralized by the leased assets. Our capital leases generally contain provisions whereby 

we can purchase the equipment at the end of the lease for a one dollar buyout or the current fair market value 
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capped at 18.5% of the original purchase price. Amortization of leased assets is included in depreciation and 
amortization expense. 

Future minimum payments under capital lease obligations consisted of the following at December 31. 2008: 

2009 

2010 

2011 

2012 

Total minimum lease payments. 

Less: amounts representing interest 

$2,101 

1.363 

1,069 

567 

5,100 

(517) 

Present value of net minimum lease payments (including current portion of 
$1,837) , , .... , , , . . ...... . $4,583 

13. Common Stock 

Our Class A common stockholders are entitled to one vote for each share of stock held for all matters 
submitted to a vote of stockholders. Our Class B stockholders are entitled to three votes for each share owned. 

14. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

In the first quarter of 2008. we adopted SFAS 157 "Fair Value Measurements" for financial assets and 

liabilities. This standard defines fair value, provides guidance for measuring fair value, and requires certain 

disclosures. This standard does not require any new fair value measurements, but rather applies to all other 

accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. This standard does not apply 

measurements related to share-based payments. nor does it apply to measurements related to inventory. 

SFAS 157 discusses valuation techniques. such as the market approach (comparable market prices). the 

income approach (present value of future income or cash flows). and the cost approach (cost to replace the 

service capacity of an asset or replacement cost). The statement utilizes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the 

inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels. The following is a brief 

description of those three levels: 

Levell: Observable inputs such as quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities. 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability. either directly or 

indirectly. These include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets and quoted prices 
for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active. 

Level 3: Observable inputs that reflect the reporting entity's own assumptions. 

Our population of financial assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements and the necessary 
disclosures are as follow: 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Marketable securities available for sale .. 
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Fair Value as of 
12/31/2008 

Total 

$38,977 

78 

$39,055 

Fair Value Measurements at 
12/31/2008 

Using Fair Value Hierarchy 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

$38,977 

78 

$39,055 

$-

$-

$-

$-
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The fair values of marketable securities are based on quoted market prices from various stock exchanges. 

15. Income Taxes 

The Company accounts for income taxes under SFAS 109 using the asset and liability approach to 

accounting for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon differences between 

financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws 

that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. Net deferred tax assets are recorded when it 

is more likely than not that the tax benefits will be realized. 

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following at December 31: 

Current: 
Federal. 

State ....... . 

Total current 

Deferred: 

Federal. 

State. 

Total deferred .. 

Total benefit for income taxes from continuing operations .. 

2008 

$ 636 

152 

788 

(29,938) 

(4,107) 

(34,045) 

$(33,257) 

In previous years, the Company recorded a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets due to 

uncertainty surrounding the realization of the benefits of such assets; therefore, there was no tax provision in 

2007 or 2006. For 2008, based on historical taxable income from continuing operations and projections for future 

taxable income, the Company determined that it is more likely than not that its deferred tax assets are expected 

to be realized, and reversed the valuation allowance. The reversal of the valuation allowance and other 
adjustments to the deferred tax assets resulted in the recognition of income tax benefits of $33,257 in 2008. 

The $33,257 benefit is comprised of a federal benefit of $29,302 and a state net benefit of $3,955. 
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Significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31 

Deferred tax assets: 

Net operating loss carryforwards . 
Research and development tax credit 

Stock compensation expense. 

Depreciation and amortization. 

Reserves and accrued expenses ....... . 

Alternative minimum tax credit. 

Deferred revenue 

Other .. 

Total deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax liabilities: 

Capitalized software development costs 
Other ......... . 

Total deferred tax liabilities. 

Net deferred tax asset .. 

Valuation allowance for net deferred tax asset. 

Net deferred tax asset recognized in the consolidated balance sheets 

were: 

2008 

$26,746 

294 

1,513 

4,079 

1.432 

636 

108 

373 

35,181 

11,1321 

141 

11,1361 

34,045 

$34,045 

2007 

$38,198 

15 

1,635 

4,578 

958 

813 

62 

46,259 

11,2021 

141 

11,2061 

45,053 

145,0531 

$ 

At December 31, 200S, we had U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards for income tax purposes of 

approximately $Sl ,643, which includes approximately $24,177 of remaining acquired net operating losses from 

the acquisition of Xypoint in 2001, and $9,361 from the excess tax benefits related to stock-based compensation 

deductions which will increase additional paid in capital once the benefit is realized, through a reduction of 

income taxes payable. The net operating loss carryforwards acquired in connection with the purchase of Xypoint 

in 2001 will begin to expire in 2018. The remaining net operating loss carryforwards will expire from 2019 
through 2027. 

The timing and manner in which we may utilize the net operating loss carryforwards and tax credits in future 

tax years will be limited by the amounts and timing of future taxable income and by the application of the 

ownership change rules under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. Utilization of the Xypoint net operating 

losses are limited as a result of ownership changes occurring in 1997 and 2001. Additionally. the Company 

determined that they had an ownership change in December 2001, which imposes an annual limitation of the 

net operating losses created in 1999 to 2001. As of December 31, 2007, the Company reduced its deferred tax 
assets related to the portion of the research and development tax credits acquired from Xypoint that are limited 

under Section 382, which cannot be used before they expire. 

The remaining U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards may become subject to limitations under the 

Internal Revenue Code as well. We have state net operating loss carryforwards available which expire through 

2027, utilization of which will be limited in a manner similar to the federal net operating loss carryforwards. At 

December 31, 2008, the Company had federal alternative minimum tax credit carry forwards of approximately 

$636, Which are available to offset future regular federal taxes. Research and development credits of 
approximately $294 will begin to expire in 2011. 
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The reconciliation of the reported income tax benefit to the amount that would result by applying the 

U.S. federal statutory rate of 34% to loss from continuing operations for the year ended December 31 is as 

follows: 

2008 2007 2006 

Income tax (benefit) at statutory rate. $ 8,266 $ (364) $ 653 

Change in valuation allowances (45,053) (887) (2,241) 

Write-down of tax attributes. 874 1,894 

Non deductible items 1,612 255 55 

Non deductible stock compensation expense. 473 (705) 689 

Research and development tax credit (23O) (1301 (43) 

Change in state apportionment tax rates on deferred 
assets/liabilities. .......... (53) (41) 807 

State tax (benefit) . ........... 1,066 (8) 52 

Other (212) ~) 28 

Total. ............ $(33,257) $ $ 

Upon the adoption of FIN 48, the estimated value of the Company's uncertain tax positions was a liability of 

$2,736 resulting from unrecognized net tax benefits which did not include interest and penalties. It is reasonably 

possible theses unrecognized deferred tax benefits will be recognized in the next twelve months through the tax 
provision. The Company does not currently anticipate that the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will 

significantly increase within the next 12 months. The Company recorded the estimated value of its uncertain tax 

positions by reducing the value of certain tax attributes. 

The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company's unrecognized tax benefits (excluding 

interest. penalties and related tax carry forwards): 

Balance at December 31, 2006 
Gross increases related to prior year tax positions ........ . 

Gross decreases related to prior year tax positions. 

Gross increases related to current year tax positions 

Settlements/lapse in statute of limitation .. 

Balance at December 31, 2007 ... 

Gross increases related to prior year tax positions. 

Gross decreases related to prior year tax positions. 
Gross increases related to current year tax positions 

Settlements/lapse in statute of limitation 

Balance at December 31, 2008. 

Total 

$ 

2,736 

$2,736 

If the Company's positions are sustained by the taxing authority in favor of the Company, approximately, 

$2.736 (excluding interest and penalties) of uncertain tax position liabilities would favorably impact the 

Company's effective tax rate. 

Upon the adoption of FIN 48. the Company's policy is to classify any interest and penalties accrued on any 

unrecognized tax benefits as a component of the provision for income taxes. There were no interest or penalties 

recognized in the consolidated statement of income for year ended December 31. 2008 and the consolidated 

balance sheet at December 31. 2008. The Company files income tax returns in U.S. and state jurisdictions. As of 

December 31, 2008. open tax years in the federal and some state jurisdictions date back to 1999, due to the 

taxing authorities' ability to adjust operating loss carry forwards. 
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16. Employee Benefit Plan 

The Company maintains a 401 (k) plan covering defined employees who meet established eligibility 

requirements. Under the provisions of the plan, the Company may contribute a discretionary match. The plan 

may also contribute a non-elective contribution determined by the Company. For 2008, the Company matched 

35% of employee deferrals. The Company contribution was $798, $575, and $218 for the years ended 

December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 respectively. 

17. Stock-based Compensation Plans 

We maintain two stock-based compensation plans: a stock incentive plan, and an employee stock purchase 

plan. 

Stock Incentive Plan. We maintain a stock incentive plan that is administered by our Compensation 
Committee of our Board of Directors. Options granted under the plan vest over periods ranging from one to five 

years and expire 10 years from the date of grant. Under the principal share-based compensation plans, the 

Company may grant certain employees, directors and consultants options to purchase common stock. stock 
appreciation rights and restricted stock units. Options are rights to purchase common stock of the Company at 

the fair market value on the date of the grant. Stock appreciation rights are equity settled share-based 

compensation arrangements whereby the number of shares that will ultimately be issued is based upon the 

appreciation of the Company's common stock and the number of awards granted to an individual. Restricted 

stock units are equity settled share-based compensation arrangements of a number of share of the Company's 

common stock. Restricted stock unit holders do not have voting rights until the restrictions lapse. 

Beginning January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS 123(R) using the modified prospective method. 

Consistent with the requirements of SFAS 123(R), we recognized compensation expense net of estimated 

forfeitures over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of 5 years. The Company 

estimates the fair value of each stock option award on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing 

model. Expected volatilities are based on historical volatility of the Company's stock. The Company estimates 

forfeitures based on historical experience and the expected term of the options granted are derived from 

historical data on employee exercises. The risk free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in 

effect at the time of the grant. The Company has not paid and does not anticipate paying dividends in the near 

future. 
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A summary of our stock option activity and related information consisted of the following for the years 
ended December 31 (all share amounts in thousands): 

Outstanding, beginning of year. 

Granted . . 

Exercised . ............. . 

Forfeited 

Outstanding, end of year . 

Exercisable, at end of year . ....... . 

Vested and expected to vest, at end of 
year . ....... . 

Estimated weighted-average grant- date fair 

2008 
Weighted 
Average 

Number of Exercise 
Options Price 

11.144 

3.056 

(1.927) 

(597) 

11.676 

6.308 

9.992 

$3.69 

3.57 

3.04 

3.58 

$3.77 

$4.12 

$3.84 

value of options granted during the year.. :;$=~2~.0~7 

Weighted-average remaining contractual life 
of options outstanding at end of year. 

Non-vested, beginning of year. 

Forfeited 

Vested. 

Exercisable, at year end. 

Non-vested, at end of year . 

6.5 years 

Weighted 
Number of Average 

Options Fair Value 

4.692 

(525) 

1.792 

6.308 

5.368 

$2.29 

$2.16 

$2.21 

$3.56 

$2.21 

2007 
Weighted 
Average 

Number of Exercise 
Options Price 

$ 

11.622 

2.537 

(1.347) 

(1.668) 

11.144 

6.515 

7.510 

3.69 

6.6 years 

$3.62 

3.69 

2.58 

4.07 

$3.69 

$4.14 

$3.69 

Weighted 
Number of Average 

Options Fair Value 

4.799 

(1.088) 

1.579 

6.515 

4.692 

$2.05 

$2.37 

$2.13 

$3.73 

$2.29 

2006 
Weighted 
Average 

Number of Exercise 

$ 

Options Price 

9.793 

2.908 

(199) 

(880) 

11.622 

6.823 

8.179 

2.42 

7.0 years 

$3.86 

2.42 

1.75 

3.26 

$3.62 

$4.33 

$3.62 

Weighted 
Number of Average 

Options Fair Value 

3.972 

(731) 

1.350 

6.823 

$2.33 

$2.03 

$2.41 

$4.01 

$2.05 

Exercise prices for options outstanding at December 31, 2008 ranged from $0.29 to $26.05 as follows (all 

share amounts in thousands): 

Weighted-Average 
Exercise Prices 

Weighted-Average 
Remainin~ 

Contractual ife 
Weighted-Average 

Exercise Prices 
Options of Options of Options Options of Options 

Exercise Prices Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding (years) Exercisable Exercisable 

$0.29- $2.61 2.917 $ 2.40 6.56 1.963 $ 2.40 

$2.61- $5.21 6.515 $ 3.34 6.99 2.365 $ 3.30 

$5.21- $7.82 2.214 $ 6.74 5.19 1.950 $ 6.74 

$7.82 - $26.05 .. 30 $11.07 4.01 30 $11.07 

Total end of y'1ar . 11.676 6.308 
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As of December 31, 2008, the aggregate intrinsic value of options exercisable was $56,348. As of 

December 31. 2008, we estimate that we will recognize $3.385 in expense for outstanding, unvested options 

over their weighted average remaining vesting period of 3.9 years. 

In calculating the fair value of our stock options using Black-Scholes for the years ended December 31, 

2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively, our assumptions were as follows: 

Expected life (in years). 

Risk-free interest rate(%) . 

Volatility(%) 

Dividend yield(%) 

. ...... 

For The Years Ended 
December 31, 

200B 2007 

5.5 5.5 

2.65%-3.33% 4.24%-4.90% 

60%-67% 68.1%-83% 

0% 0% 

2006 

5.5 

4.56% 

78% 

0% 

For the years ended December 31,2008,2007, and 2006, the Company granted a total of 20,556. 89,600, 

and 22.025 of restricted shares of Class A Common Stock to directors and certain key executives. The 

restrictions expired at the end of one year for directors and expire in annual increments over three years for 

executives conditional on continued employment. The fair value of the restricted stock on the date of issuance is 

recognized as non-cash stock compensation expense over the period over which the restrictions expire. We 

recognized $105, $328. and $244 of non-cash stock compensation expense related to these grants for the years 

ended December 31.2008,2007, and 2006. respectively. We expect to record future stock compensation 
expense of $50 as a result of these restricted stock grants that will be recognized over the remaining vesting 

periods. 

Emplovee Stock Purchase Plan. We have an employee stock purchase plan (the Plan) that gives all 

employees an opportunity to purchase shares of our Class A Common Stock. The Plan allows for the purchase 

of 1,384.932 shares of our Class A Common Stock at a discount of 15% of the fair market value. The discount 

of 15% is calculated based on the average daily share price on either the first or the last day of each quarterly 
enrollment period, whichever date is more favorable to the employee. Option periods are three months in 

duration. As of December 31, 2008, 1,092,821 shares of Class A Common Stock have been issued under the 

Plan. Compensation expense relating to the Employee Stock Purchase Plan is not material. 

As of December 31. 2008, our total shares of Class A Common Stock reserved for future issuance is 

comprised of: 

Stock incentive plan 

Warrants (see Note 11) . 

Employee stock purchase plan .. 

Total shares restricted for future use. 

(in thousands) 

4,524 

700 

292 

5,516 

As of December 31. 2008, the composition of non-cash stock compensation expense was as follows: 

Direct costs of revenue. 

Research and development expense. 

Sales and marketing expense .. 

General and administrative expense. 

Total non--cash stock compensation expense .. 
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. ........ 

200B 

$2.494 

822 

272 

170 

$3.758 

2007 2006 

$2,080 $1,509 

867 558 

628 326 

758 723 

$4,333 $3,116 



18. Operating Leases 

TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued) 

(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data) 

We lease certain office space and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases that expire on various 

dates through 2015. Future minimum payments under non-cancelable operating leases with initial terms of one 

year or more consisted of the following at December 31, 2008: 

2009. 

2010-2011 

2012-2013 

Beyond 

$3,423 

4,295 

1,260 

575 

$9,553 

Our leases include our offices in Annapolis, Maryland under a lease expiring in March 2011, a second facility 

in Annapolis under a lease expiring in April 2013, a facility in Seattle, Washington under a lease expiring in 

September 2010, a facility in Oakland, California under a lease expiring August 2012, and we relocated our 

production facility in Tampa, Florida under a lease expiring in December 2014. The Annapolis facilities are utilized 

for executive and administrative offices, as well as portions of our Commercial and Government Segments. The 

Seattle and Oakland facilities are utilized by our Commercial Segment and the Tampa facility is utilized by our 

Government Segment. Future payments on all of our leases are estimated based on future payments including 

the minimum future rent escalations, if any, stipulated in the respective agreements. 

Rent expense for continuing operations was $4,079, $3.823. and $3,603 for the years ended December 31, 

2008. 2007, and 2006, respectively. 

19. Concentrations of Credit Risk and Major Customers 

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily 

of accounts receivable and unbilled receivables. Those customers that comprised 10% or more of our revenues, 
accounts receivable, and unbilled receivables from continuing operations are summarized in the following tables. 

Customer 

U.S. Government 

Customer A 

Segment 

Government 

Commercial 

% of Total Revenues 
For the Year Ended 

December 31, 
2008 2007 2006 

42% 37% 25% 

22% 20% 20% 

As of December 31, 2008 As of December 31, 2007 

Customer 

U.S. Government 

Customer A . 

Customer B . 

Accounts 
Receivable 

54% 

22% 

<10% 

Unbilled 
Receivables 

73% 

<10% 

10% 

Accounts Unbilled 
Receivable Receivables 

40% 66% 

<10% <10% 

11% <10% 

As of December 31. 2008, our total exposure to credit risk was $69,532 based on the amount due to us by 

the above customers. As of December 31, 2007, our exposure to such risks was $23,689. We did not 

experience significant losses from amounts due to us by any customers for the year ended December 31,2007. 

20. Business and Geographic Segment Information 

Our two reporting segments are the Commercial Segment and the Government Segment. 
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Our Commercial Segment products and services enable wireless carriers to deliver short text messages, 

location information, internet content, and other enhanced communication services to and from wireless phones. 
Our Commercial Segment also provides E9-1-1 services, commercial location-based services, inter-carrier text 

message distribution services, and carrier technology on a hosted, Of service bureau, basis. We also earn 

subscriber revenue through wireless applications including our Rand McNally® Traffic application. 

Our Government Segment designs, assembles, sells and maintains data network communication systems, 

including our SwiftLink® deployable communication systems. We also own and operate secure satellite teleport 

facilities, resell access to satellite airtime (known as space segment), and provide communication systems 

integration, information technology services, and software systems and services to the U.S. Department of 

Defense and other government customers. 

Management evaluates segment performance based on gross profit. We do not maintain information 

regarding segment assets. Accordingly, asset information by reportable segment is not presented. 

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively, our revenues indude approximately 

$8,598, $5,551, and $7,349 of revenues generated from customers outside of the United States. 

The following table sets forth results for our reportable segments as of December 31, 2008. All revenues 

reported below are from external customers. A reconciliation of segment gross profit to net loss for the 

respective periods is also included below: 

Year Ended December 31, 

2008 2007 2006 
Camm. Gvmt Total Comm. Gvmt Total Comm. Gvmt Total ---

Revenue 

Services .. $ 64,441 $ 36,918 $101,359 $58,793 $29,269 $ 88,062 $59,741 $28,639 $ 88,380 

Systems ... 37,429 81,354 118,783 16,521 39,585 56,106 17,219 19,337 36,556 

Total revenue .. 101,870 118,272 220,142 75,314 68,854 144,168 76,960 47,976 124,936 

Direct costs of revenue 

Direct cost of services ... 32,402 29,192 61,594 29,346 22,815 52,161 31,409 21,131 52,540 

Direct cost of systems ... 8,993 68,298 77,291 5,024 32,882 37,906 ~ 12,672 17,883 

Total Direct Costs .. 41,395 97,490 138,885 34,370 55,697 90,067 36,620 33,803 70,423 

Gross profit 

Services gross profit 32,039 7,726 39,765 29,447 6,454 35,901 28,332 7,508 35,840 

Systems gross profit .. 28,436 13,056 41,492 11 ,497 6,703 18,200 12,008 6,665 18,673 

Total Gross Profit ... $ 60,475 $ 20,782 $ 81,257 $40,944 $13,157 $ 54,101 $40,340 $14,173 $ 54,513 
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Total segment gross profit. 

Research and development expense. 

Sales and marketing expense. 

General and administrative expense ........ . 

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment. 

Amortization of acquired intangible assets . .................... . 

Interest expense ... . ...... 

2008 

$ 81,257 

(16,161) 

(13,715) 

(28,238) 

(5,865) 

(147) 

(922) 

2007 2006 

$ 54,101 $ 54,513 

(13,072) (12,586) 

(11,917) (11,713) 

(19,334) (16,959) 

(6,200) (7,956) 

(148) (147) 

(1,776) (1,751) 

Amortization of debt discount and debt issuance expenses, including $2,458 write-
off in June 2007 ......................... . 

Gain on sale of patent . . 

Benefit for income taxes. 

Other income, net .. 

Income/(Ioss) from continuing operations. 

Loss from discontinued operations. 

Net income/(loss) .. 

21. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited) 

(180) 

8,060 

33,257 

222 

57,568 

$ 57,568 

(3,176) 

508 

(1,014) 

(275) 

$ (1,289) 

(1,447) 

22 

1,976 

(23,671) 

$(21,695) 

The following is a summary of the quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2008 
and 2007. The quarterly information has not been audited, but in our opinion, includes all normal recurring 

adjustments, which are, in the opinion of the Management, necessary for fair statement of the results of the 

interim periods. 

Revenue. 

Gross profit . . 

Income from continuing operations 

Loss from discontinued operations. 

Net income. 

Earnings per share - basic from continuing 
operations . 

Loss per share - basic from discontinued 
operations 

Net income per share - basic. 

Earnings per share - diluted from continuing 
operations . 

Loss per share - diluted from discontinued 
operations .. 

Net income per share - diluted. 

March 31 

$40.413 

$19,564 

$ 4,618 

$ 4,618 

$ 0.11 

$ 

$ 0.11 

$ 0.11 

$ 

$ 0.11 
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2008 
Three Months Ended 

(unaudited) 
June 30 September 30 December 31 

$43,911 $56,531 $79,287 

$19,212 $17.457 $25,024 

$11,965 $ 2.757 $38,228 

$11,965 $ 2,757 $38,228 

$ 0.28 $ 0.06 $ 0.87 

$ $ $ 

$ 0.28 $ 0.06 $ 0.87 ---

$ 0.26 $ 0.06 $ 0.78 

$ $ $ 

$ 0.26 $ 0.06 $ 0.78 
= 


